Q) vitop X%

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
} XEEYWERBEREAD

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RESHEIMALZHERAF)

Stock Code 3 5%: 1178




CONTENTS

CORPORATE INFORMATION

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

PAGES
AR

NAER 2
TERE 4
EIRE R DT 9
ExgmEd 12
EEhSEEBABBAAER 20

EEERBE 28

B AZBEN RS 29

razmiia 31
e Bk R 33
B ISR R 39
maiens 36
e EER 38
BTSRRI 5 39
MBEERME 116
FAE A I AT B )

—T——FFR



CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Han Qing Yun (Chairman)

Han Xiao Yue (Joint Chairman)

Guo Yan Ni

Long Ming Fei

Xu Nian Chun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Li Xin Zhong

Zhang Wen
Zhu Jing Hua

COMPANY SECRETARY

Tsui Siu Hung

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Han Xiao Yue
Tsui Siu Hung

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Zhu Jing Hua (Chairman)

Li Xin Zhong
Zhang Wen

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Zhu Jing Hua (Chairman)
Li Xin Zhong
Zhang Wen

AUDITOR

Pan-China (H.K.) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of Communications
China Everbright Bank
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2011

b g

EH
YATES

IED

BER(ZF)
BRE (BELE)
03 4
AR
e
B AT R

2= R

5Kk X

PN

NI ==
wIKIE
BREM R

R
wIKIE

R (BE) @tEEBEMAER AR

X GRTRD

T AL ACRAT

ZRRTT
BB L KERTT
B TR RTT



CORPORATE INFORMATION

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

Suites 913-917, 9/F

Sun Hung Kai Centre

30 Harbour Road, Wanchai
Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2868 2588

Fax: (852) 2991 4711

HEAD OFFICE IN THE PRC

Floor 8, Convention and Exhibition Center,
No. 1, Software Road, Zhuhai SEZ
The People’s Republic of China

SHARE REGISTRARS AND TRANSFER
OFFICES

Cayman Islands

Butterfield Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
Butterfield House

68 Fort Street, P.O. Box 705

George Town, Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong

Union Registrars Limited

18/F Fook Lee Commercial Centre, Town Place
33 Lockhart Road

Wanchai
Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

1178

WEBSITE ADDRESS

http://www.vitop.com

b g

R

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

A B e

BB

BT 752 305
FBEA L
91£913-917%

T i (852) 2868 2588
B H : (852) 2991 4711

Ji I 1) A e i

FREE AR AFIE
TR 9 4 [ X R BR 15
gRAL8E

P A3 it 5 6 e

BH 2 HE B

Butterfield Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
Butterfield House

68 Fort Street, P.O. Box 705

George Town, Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

s

A ESBRERAT
&

BT

5 5218335

PN R E L INE
i A3 A%

1178

A 1k

http://www.vitop.com

FAE A Wy 2 I A IR 4 )
—T——FFR



CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors, | hereby present the annual
report of Vitop Bioenergy Holdings Limited for the year ended 30
June 2011.

OPERATION REVIEW

The year under review was a crucial year in our overall optimisation,
innovation and restructuring. During the year, the Group
comprehensively readjusted our corporate culture, products
mix, marketing and other aspects. We further streamlined and
rationalised certain businesses invested in the past which were
expected to remain unprofitable in the near future, and has duly
optimised the human resource system and structure. We have
also adjusted our business model in a timely manner by nurturing
a direct sales team for healthcare products and strengthening the
coordination between our capital and business operations, which
has laid a solid foundation for the future healthy development of the
healthcare business.

BUSINESS PROSPECT OF THE
BIOENERGY SECTOR

I.  The Shift in Corporate Culture

Vitop has gone through 19 years of development since its
establishment in 1992. Originally influenced by the “innovative,
passionate and devoted” culture of the special economic
regions, Vitop has been energetic and creative in its early
years. However, after years of moving in a rut, conservatism
and the habit of staying put has eroded the culture of Vitop
in recent years and seriously hindered the advancement and
transformation of the Group’s business. Therefore, we have to
readjust our corporate culture before reforming our business in
general.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

II.

1. Further streamlined the operation management team.
During the year, the Group has further streamlined its
operation management team so as to consolidate its
control and speed up the decision making and execution
processes.

2. Bearing the importance of marketing in mind, we have
rebuilt and created an “interdisciplinary” human resource
structure and transformed ourselves into a marketing-
oriented enterprise making an all-out marketing effort
by adjusting the ratio between marketing and corporate
staffs from 30:70 to the existing 70:30.

3. Fully implemented “target management”. After thoroughly
studied the goals of the Group for the year, operating
teams with clear targets, clear organisation structures
and clear assessment systems centered on these goals
have been established.

With the above effective measures, we will revitalise the
corporate culture of Vitop.

Product Adjustments

The Group made solid efforts to adjust its product types,
quality and mix during the year. The adjustment focused on
three principles: elitization, under which we have adjusted the
number of product types and pooled our human, capital and
other resources to the development of some elite products;
quality-orientation; and differentiated product strategies of “red
sea”, which focuses on price competitiveness and is quantity-
oriented, and “blue sea”, which focuses on high profit margins.
With such adjustment, the Group has identified four elite
product lines during the year which are relatively competitive in
the domestic healthcare products industry.

1. Multi-Functional Negative lonizer (ZIhec BB TF#) - a
competitive “long-range, high concentration and multi-
functional” negative ionizer.

2.  Endless Spring All-Seasons Healthy Sleeping System (&
BIUZEE A RER) - the first set of all-seasons functional
healthy sleeping system introduced by Vitop. The covers
of the mattress and pillows of this system that directly
touch the body have different functional surfaces for
each season and help achieve healthy sleeping in a
scientific way. The mattress alone has 27 layers.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Healthcare Mobile Phone Service Pack for the Elderly
(ZERFEFHEBIEE) - the first healthcare mobile
phone service pack for the elderly introduced by Vitop
featuring our “smart phone, 24-hour emergency call
and chronic disease regular indices real-time monitoring
systems” designed for the elderly.

Dimethylaminoethanol (DMAE) (## 2 ) and Nitric Oxide
(—4& 14 ) - authentic healthcare foods imported
directly from the United States.

III. Multi-channel Marketing Strategy

1.

Introducing direct marketing channels. Vitop Bioenergy
(China) Ltd. has collaborated with a famous direct
marketing company in the PRC for the direct marketing
of healthcare products to achieve a win-win situation by
leveraging the capacity and experience of its operating
team. The Group is actively applying for the licence for
direct marketing.

Streamlining the “meeting marketing” channel. The
Group implemented a two-pronged approach during
the year: on one hand, we have rectified the “meeting
marketing” channel by canceling the distributorships of
certain distributors that materially breached the Vitop
Distribution Licence Agreement. On the other hand, the
Group aggressively recruited new distributors. With such
effective adjustment, the Group hopes to stop the slip
in its results and pave the way for a strong rebound and
turnaround in its performance next year.

Actively fostered directly operated and franchised
brand retail store chains. Directly operated retail stores
established by the Company in Panyu in Guangzhou,
Nanchang and Zhejiang have achieved success. The
Company has also engaged various franchisees in
various trial locations. Practical training in marketing
models and promotion given to the business associates
has been substantially completed. As a result, we have
reached a milestone in the preparation for the nationwide
roll-out of directly operated and franchised brand retail
store chains next year.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

FUTURE PROSPECTS

In the face of the current challenging economic environment, the
Group will continue to adhere to its proactive yet prudent operating
strategy. It will remain committed on its sustainable long-term
growth and continue to allocate its resources with great caution.
Besides, it will maintain its vigilance on cost control measures and
production efficiency whilst strive to broaden its customer base and
enhance its products.

The Group is also actively searching for new investment
opportunities outside the bioenergy sector so as to increase the
income and diversify the risk of the Company. In particular, our
targets are projects with huge potential asset value, high profitability,
bright prospects and relatively low acquisition cost.

On 31 May 2011, the Company entered into an agreement for the
subscription of approximately 9.09% shareholding (as enlarged by
such subscription) in Global Trade Center Holdings Co. Limited
(“GTC”), a company established to carry out the business of
integrated international trade service. The board of directors is of
the view that the subscription is a good opportunity for the Group to
increase its cashflow by taking the leverage on the earning potential
of GTC in the business of providing integrated international trade
service and to diversify the businesses of the Group and broaden its
income base so that it will not unduly rely on the business in trading
of health care products and thus the business risk of the Group in
the event of market downturn can be reduced. Therefore, the Board
believes that the subscription will be beneficial to the Company
and its shareholders as a whole. Details of the subscription are
contained in the announcement of the Company dated 31 May
2011.

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

On the capital front, the Group has successfully issued non-listed
convertible notes in the aggregate principal amount of HK$30
million in October 2010 and also completed the rights issue of
294,261,987 rights shares in July 2011. Those fund raising activities
have strengthened the Group’s working capital and provided the
Group with the financial impetus to acquire new businesses.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

APPRECIATION

As the joint chairman of the board of directors, | would like to
express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers,
suppliers and business partners for their full understanding and
support during the hard-time. The Group’s steady growth in the
healthcare industry of the PRC over the past 19 years has relied on
the efforts and contributions of all our staff and partners. | believe,
with these supports, the experience and brand advantages built up
over these 19 years, and the dedication of all our shareholders and
staff, the Group will be able to keep abreast with the time and step
into another stage of development.

Han Xiao Yue
Joint Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 September 2011
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group recorded sales revenue of approximately HK$27.22
million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$40.32 million
or 59.70% as compared with that of last year. The decrease was
mainly attributable to the decrease in the sale revenue from the
multi-functional water generators by approximately HK$31.34
million or 79.12% from approximately HK$39.61 million of last year
to approximately HK$8.27 million of the year. The decrease was
mainly due to the unfashionable marketing mode and cut-throat
competition from our rivals. The Group’s gross profit margin for the
year was approximately 42.64% (2010: approximately 33.87%),
representing an increase of approximately 8.77 percentage points
from last year.

During the year ended 30 June 2011, an impairment loss of
available-for-sale investment of approximately HK$2.93 million and
provision for other receivables of approximately HK$2.59 million
were made after prudent review and assessment of the current
market valuation and the recovery of the other receivables by the
Board of the Group. For the sake of prudent accounting treatment,
the Board decided to make partial impairment in respect of
available-for-sale investment and partial provision in respect of other
receivables.

The Group’s loss for the year amounted to approximately HK$23.50
million, representing an increase of 23.29% when compared to last
year (2010: loss of approximately HK$19.06 million). It was mainly
attributable to the decline in the Group’s sale revenue and gross
profit, and the impairment loss of available-for-sale investment and
the provision for other receivables.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS AND INVESTMENTS

As at 30 June 2011, the Group's gearing ratio, measured on
the basis of total borrowings as a percentage of total equity
attributable to the shareholders of the Company, was approximately
93.43% (2010: approximately 4.53%), with convertible notes of
approximately HK$27.74 million, and finance lease of approximately
HK$51,000 and there was no pledge of assets (2010: bank loan of
HK$2.15 million were secured by a pledge of our financial assets
designated at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
HK$1.84 million and pledged bank deposit of HK$20,000 and
supported by a corporate guarantee executed by the Company).

o BLJE W) &

$4 755 (] i

RNEF S EHEWRLN2, 72288 T B =
FE TR #4,0328 5 L 5£59.70% ° 5 & W 25
THROTERRRZZ IR KKAHEE KRS
& F 43,9618 B L T M #93,1348 %8 T 3k
79.12%ERFEEFL827EBIT » I EERIK
BEEERE THRANEZHNTHEEXRR
MBEFUFEUBRER - AEEARFEEF
RH)BA2.64% ( T —TF : #33.87% ) @ ¥
thEF EALSTTIER DB -

BHE_Z——F R A=THLFE KXEH
EEeFERERRILFGREBOMSHERER
fi FE AR SR U B 1 1% - SR SR A TR B 1
R (B 85 18 #0293 8 78 7T Kot EL A FE U AR SR AE
HEEX2508 B - ABIEGFTREMS

E=gRERATHEREHEB EHBOBE
Ko o L A W R SR L BB A B A

AEBARFEEFEERYAE2308E T BREF
EPN23.29% (ZF—ZF : FHIE 41,9068 8
L) ETERERAEENHEEKRERERNT
B ARERS AT EIRETHE AR EEE R H
Hh R MK BR SR o

B N BCE AR

R-E——FXNAZ+H AEEHNERE
B R(REETEEARAREREGEERA
BADWEE) 4 A93.43% (ZE—T4F : 4
4.53% ) B AR EER L2, 7748 B T KAl
EREHNABE L TEERINEE (ZZ
—EF RTERE BT NUARER A
HA1848 B T T AR A FENNE RS A
wm A EIBMI S EER2EE TN E RFR
TEFRERAR - WIAAR QR A RERIE
ER) -

KA A PR 2w
—T——FFR



10

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 30 June 2011, the Group employed a total of 153 (2010: 216)
employees, of which 147 were deployed in the PRC (2010: 210)
and 6 (2010: 6) were deployed in Hong Kong. The total salaries
(excluding directors’ emoluments) for the year was approximately
HK$13.33 million (2010: approximately HK$17.72 million).
Remuneration packages comprised salary, mandatory provident
fund, bonus, medical allowance and share options.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

A summary of the principal terms of the convertible notes is set out
in note 25 to the audited financial statements.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK AND
MANAGEMENT

The majority of the Group’s operations are located in the PRC,
and the main operational currencies are Hong Kong Dollars and
Renminbi. The Company pays regular and active attention to
Renminbi exchange rate fluctuation and consistently assesses
exchange risks.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCE

As at 30 June 2011, the Group was in a net cash position and has
sufficient funding to pay off all the outstanding liabilities, and meet
its working capital requirement. The Group’s cash and bank balance
at that date amounted to approximately HK$11.81 million (2010:
approximately HK$8.66 million), which was denominated in mainly
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.

As at 30 June 2011, the Group’s current ratio and quick ratio were
approximately 1.16 (2010: approximately1.73) and approximately
0.79 (2010: approximately 1.10) respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Neither the Group nor the Company had any significant contingent
liabilities at the end of the reporting period.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

After the year end, the Company completed the rights issue of
294,261,987 rights shares at HK$0.25 each in July 2011 (details of
which are contained in the circular of the Company dated 27 June
2011) and raised net proceeds of approximately HK$70.1 million.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of Vitop Bioenergy Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to
as the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are manufacturing and trading
of multifunctional water generators, BlOenergy products, healthcare
food products and other healthcare products in the People’s
Republic of China, excluding Hong Kong and Macau.

RESULT AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2011 and the
state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at that date are
set out in the audited financial statements on pages 31 to 115.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
to shareholders of the Company for the years ended 30 June 2011
and 2010 respectively.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and the assets, liabilities and
minority interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set
out on page 116. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the Group’s property, plant and
equipment during the year are set out in note 14 to the audited
financial statements.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of the movement in the Group’s intangible assets during the
year is set out in note 15 to the audited financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital and
share options during the year, together with the reasons therefore,
are set out in notes 27 and 28 to the audited financial statements,
respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, there were no purchase, sale or redemption by the
Company, or any its subsidiaries, of the Company’s listed securities.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and note 29 to the audited financial
statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 June 2011, the Company’s reserve available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law,
Cap.22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to approximately HK$11.25 million. This includes
the Company’s share premium account, in the capital amount of
approximately HK$75.21 million as at 30 June 2011, which may be
distributed provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be
in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. The share premium account may also
be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the percentage of sales to the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for approximately 13.64% of the
Group’s total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer
included therein amounted to approximately 3.77%. Purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
32.36% of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately 3.77%.

To the best knowledge of the directors, neither the directors, their
associates, nor any shareholders who owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital, had any beneficial interest in the
Group’s five largest customers and/or five largest suppliers during
the year.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Han Qing Yun (Chairman)
Dr. Han Xiao Yue (Joint Chairman)
Mr. Xu Nian Chun
Ms. Guo Yan Ni
Mr. Long Min Fei
Mr. Chen Heng Long
(Resigned on 8 June 2011)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Chan Yuk Tong
(Resigned on 24 May 2011)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Zhu Jing Hua

Mr. Zhang Wen

Mr. Li Xin Zhong

In accordance with article 87 (1) of the article of association of the
Company, Zhu Jing Hua and Xu Nian Chun will retire by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. Xu Nian
Chun and Zhu Jing Hua being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the meeting.

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S BROGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 20 to 22 of the
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Han Qing Yun, Dr. Han Xiao Yue, Mr. Xu Nian Chun,
Ms. Guo Yan Ni, Mr. Long Min Fei, Ms. Zhu Jing Hua, Mr. Zhang
Wen and Mr. Li Xin Zhong, has not entered into a director’s service
agreement with the Company. They are not appointed for a specific
term but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with
the articles of association of the Company. Either the Company or
they may terminate the appointment by giving a least three months’
notice in writing.

Save as disclosed above, no director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company, which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 33 to the audited financial statements
under the heading “Related Party Transactions”, there were no
other contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interests, whether or any directly or indirectly
subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST AND SHORT
POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2011, the interests and short positions of the
directors of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQ”)) as recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies
(the “Model Code”), were as follows:—
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SRR s MR R IRBE LM AR ERETT
EHRXZREST A ([BESTA) BB AA
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Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the RAQTROEHEERANEFAE
Company
Number of
underlying
shares held Approximate
Number of pursuant to percentage
Name of directors Capacity shares held share options Aggregate of interest
RS R E
FAEHEER WA E R
EEgA ) Fi¥s R4 B B Iz & 8 #at ERlse
Han Qing Yun Interest of controlled 200,000,000 - 200,000,000 22.66%
corporation (note 1)
BEE REEEE N ERS (BF3E1)
Han Xiao Yue Interest of controlled 3,805,112 - 3,805112 0.43%
corporation (note 2)
PR R REEEE N E = (M$5E2)
Note 1: BT

181,843,836 shares held by Wide Cosmos International Holdings Co Ltd
which is beneficially owned by Mr. Han Qing Yun. Mr. Han Qing Yun also
personally holds 18,156,164 shares in the Company.

Note 2:

There 3,805,112 shares are owned by Portton Investments Limited
(“Portton”), the issued share capital of which is beneficially owned by Dr. Han
Xiao Yue (the joint-chairman of the Company) and Mr. Wang Jian Dong as to
66.67% and 33.33% respectively. Each of Dr. Han Xiao Yue and Mr. Wang
Jian Dong are deemed to be interested in these 3,805,112 shares under Part
XV of the SFO. Portton is wholly owned by Power Field International Limited.

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2011, none of the
directors of the Company had any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fee is subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meeting. Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s
board of directors or its remuneration committee with reference to
directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of
the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the share option scheme disclosures in
note 28 to the audited financial statements, at no time during the
year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities
including debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate
and none of the directors or their spouses or children under the age
of 18 had any right to subscribe for securities of the Company, or
had exercised any such right during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the share option scheme are set out in note 28 to the
audited financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

INTEREST AND SHORT POSITION OF

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS/OTHER
PERSONS RECORDED IN THE REGISTER
KEPT UNDER SECTION 336 OF THE SFO

As at 30 June 2011, so far as the directors of the Company are
aware of and having made due enquires, the interests and short
positions of the substantial shareholders/persons (other than the
directors of the Company) in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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R 5 75 5 M M B B 5633615
HT A E RS st sk £
iﬁﬁ/ﬁmki%%ﬁﬁﬁ

R-B——FXRXA=+tH RARREFHMH
RERERR  RIEEZ MBS R F3361F
ATIFENBTMALE  RAREZUID
FTERRATERRBRG KBRS S
HEMERMARIMT

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the RZEAATRGEEBEKRONETE
company
Number of
underlying
shares held Approximate
Number of pursuant to percentage of
Name Capacity shares held share options Aggregate interest
RIBBERE
FANER B RS
i 5 14 Fris R 6 8B R4 & B At Bt
Wide Cosmos Beneficial owner 181,843,836 - 181,843,836 20.60%
(note 1)
EmEa A (KizE1)
Wang Jing Beneficial owner 66,800,000 - 66,800,000 7.57%
TIE EmEA A
Note 1: BT -

Wide Cosmos International Holdings Co Ltd is beneficial owned by Mr. Han
Qing Yun, the chairman of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2011, no person, other
than the directors of the Company whose interests are set out
in the section “Director’s interests and short positions in shares,
underlying shares and debentures” above, had an interest or a
short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS ‘INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this report, none of the
directors of the Company is interested in any business apart from
the Group’s business, which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors of the Company, as at
the date of this report, there is sufficient public float of not less than
25% of the Company’s issued shares are required under the Listing
Rules.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive director the annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company based
on such confirmation, considers that the three independent non-
executive directors of the Company are independent as at the date
of this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Company’s auditors, Pan-China (H.K.) CPA Limited, who retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Pan-China (H.K.) CPA Limited as the
Company’s auditors will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Han Xiao Yue
Joint Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 September 2011
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Han Qing Yun (2B ZE), aged 52, is an executive director
and chairman of the Company. Mr. Han joined the Group in April
2008. Mr. Han graduated from the Chinese Academy of Social
Sciences in 1998. Mr. Han is a highly successful entrepreneur in
the PRC and has substantial experience in enterprise operations
and management. He currently also acts as the chairman of
Guangdong Bo Ao Hong Ji Investment Company Limited. Previous
to this, he was the chairman of his own founded Tai Gu Real Estate
Development Company Limited and responsible for the operation of
that company for years.

Dr. Han Xiao Yue (M) , aged 49, is an executive director and
joint chairman of the Company. Dr. Han joined the Group in April
2007. Dr. Han holds a Bachelor Degree of Computer Science from
Tsinghua University, Beijing and a PhD in Finance from the University
of Texas, the United States. He has over 20 years’ of experience
in investment banking and has worked for multi-national securities
firms such as Merrill Lynch and Societe Generale. He has involved
actively in large-scale investment projects in the PRC and has rich
experience in investment management. Dr. Han had been appointed
as an executive director and the chief executive officer of Sino Gas
Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange. He is well-
versed with the operation and management of the listed company.

Ms. Guo Yan Ni (ZB##E), aged 42, is an executive director of
the Company. Ms. Guo joined the Group in April 2008. Ms. Guo
graduated from the Zhanjiang Ocean University and majoring
in finance and accounting. Ms. Guo has years of experience in
financial and accounting and financial management. She acted
as the treasurer in the finance department of the Huazhou City
Agricultural, Industrial and Commercial Supply Company, and acted
as the financial controller of the finance department the Guangzhou
Yayuan Real Estates Company Limited for years.

Mr. Long Ming Fei (BEBA7®) , aged 39, is an executive director of
the Company. Mr. Long joined the Group in April 2008. Mr. Long
graduated from Industrial and Civil Construction Department of
South China University of Technology in 1994 and is an intermediate
engineer. Mr. Long has years of experience in corporate
management. He has been the manager of cost management
department in Guang Dong Yitao Group Co., Ltd. and became the
manager of investment department in Guang Dong Yitao Group Co.,
Ltd. since 2008.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Xu Nian Chun (2:=2%), aged 66, is an executive director
of the Company. Mr. Xu joined the Group in April 2008. Mr. Xu
graduated from the Nanjing University of Chemical Technology
and is a senior engineer. He has engaged in the management of
petroleum and chemical systems for years and has substantial
experience in management. He acted as the general manager
of Southern China Supply Company of the Ministry of Chemical
Industry and was awarded for his substantial contributions by
the State Council. He currently acts as the deputy chairman of
Shenzhen China Petroleum Tong Da Company (37 31| /R 38 & A
YNCIDN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Xin Zhong (Z# ), aged 53, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company since February
2008. After graduating from Nankai University in 1983 with a
degree in Economics, Mr. Li spent seven years working in the PRC
as a lecturer, part-time lawyer and the deputy general manager
of a consulting firm in Tianjian before receiving his LL.M. degree
at the University of London in 1991. Mr. Li joined Miramar Group
as an advisor of China affairs in 1992 and then joined Peregrine
Capital Limited in 1993 and became a director in 1996. He spent
two years with Alta Capital (H.K.) Limited as an executive director
before joining BNP Paribas Peregerine Capital Limited in 2000 as
an executive director. He joined Anglo Chinese Corporate Finance
Limited in 2003 as a director and then joined DBS Asia Capital
Limited as China Team Head of Mergers and Acquisitions in June
2004 responsible for origination of China related corporate finance
transactions. He is currently a director and senior consultant of
shenzhen Sino-Source Investment Consulting Company. Mr. Li has
over 17 years of experience in corporate finance.

Mr. Zhang Wen (3R 3), aged 43, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company since April
2008. Mr. Zhang graduated from the University of Hong Kong with
a master of business and administration and from the postgraduate
class of the postgraduate department of the Shenzhen University.
From 2006 till now, he has been the deputy general manager of
New Smart Energy Group Limited. Previous to this, he was the
deputy president of China Natural Oil And Gas Co., Ltd. and the
managing director of Poliwell International Limited for years and
accumulated substantial experience in corporate management.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Zhu Jing Hua (k& %), aged 69, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive director of the Company since April
2008. Ms. Zhu graduated from the Dongbei University of Finance
and Economics and became a senior accountant in October 1992.
She was approved as a chartered accountant by the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in April 1994. She has
worked for the Ministry of Chemical Industry, holding positions of
the deputy director and the director of the production for outlet
and supply and marketing department of the Ministry of Chemical
Industry, the deputy chief of the Bureau of Economics of the Ministry
of Chemical Industry, the chief of the Bureau of Finance of the
Ministry of Chemical Industry, the deputy chief accountant of State
Bureau of Petroleum and Chemical Industries. She currently acts
as the deputy president of China Petroleum and Chemical Industry
Association. From 2002 till now, she has acted as an independent
director of Guizhou Chitianhua Co., Ltd.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Liu Yi Song (£|—#2), aged 67, is the general manager of
Hefei Vitop Meiling Environmental Technologies Co., Ltd (& EX
FEZEIRIR) (“Vitop Meiling”), a subsidiary of the Company, and is
a director of a subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Liu joined the Group in
April 2004 and is responsible for the management of Vitop Meiling.
He graduated from the Department of Management Engineering
of Hefei university of Technology (& B L% X&) in 1984. Prior to
Joining the Group, he had over 22 years of experience in business
management.

Mr. Xing He Ping (F#1F) , aged 56, joined the Group in April
2007 as the general manager of Vitop Bioenergy (China) Ltd. He
is responsible for the strategic planning, business development
and overall management of the Company. He obtained a Bachelor
of Arts degree and a Master’s degree in Economics from Wuhan
University and Huazhong Normal University and is a senior
economist, a law professor and an international arbitrator. He has
held senior management positions in well-known state-owned
enterprises, foreign-invested enterprises and large-scale private
pharmaceutical companies and has extensive experience in
international trading, strategic planning and management operations
in pharmaceutical market.

Mr. Yeung Man, Simon (#8) , aged 39, is the financial controller
of the Group. Mr. Yeung joined the Group in November 2004 and
is responsible for the financial and internal control of the Group.
He graduated from the University of Georgia, the United States
of America with a Bachelor degree in Accounting and a Bachelor
degree in Finance and Banking. Mr. Yeung is an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Prior to joining the Group, he worked in an international accounting
firm. He has over 14 years of experience in auditing, finance,
accounting and business management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to establishing and maintaining high
standards of corporate governance. The directors of the Company
believe that sound and reasonable corporate governance practices
are essential for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and
maximising shareholders’ interests.

During the year, the Company has applied the principles and
complied with the code provisions set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules, except for the deviations from code provisions A.1.1,
A.4.1 and E.1.2 as stated and explained below.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers at set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code for
securities transactions by Directors. All members of the Boards have
confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that they
have complied with the required standard as set out in the Model
Code during the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Han Qing Yun (Chairman)
Dr. Han Xiao Yue (Joint-Chairman)
Mr. Xu Nian Chun
Ms. Guo Yan Ni
Mr. Long Min Fei
Mr. Chen Heng Long
(Resigned on 8 June 2011)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Chan Yuk Tong
(Resigned on 24 May 2011)

Independent Non-executive Director
Ms. Zhu Jing Hua

Mr. Zhang Min

Mr. Li Xin Zhong
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The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company and shall be collectively responsible for promoting
the success of the Company by directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs. The Board formulates overall strategies and
polices of the Group and monitors the performance and activities
of the management. With delegating authorities from the Board,
the management of the Company is responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the Group under the leadership of the Joint Chairman.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships among
members of the Board and in particular, between the Chairman and
the Joint Chairman.

Under code provision A.1.1 of the Code, at least four regular
board meetings should be held a year at approximately quarterly
intervals with active participation of a majority of directors of the
Company, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication. As the Company did not announce its quarterly
results, two regular board meetings were held during the year
for reviewing and approving the interim and annual financial
performance of the Group. Board meetings will be held on the
occasions when board decisions are required.

During the year, three full board meetings (including two regular
board meetings) were held and the individual attendance of each
director at the board meetings was as follows:

Directors Attendance
Executive Directors
Mr. Han Qing Yun (Chairman) 1/8
Dr. Han Xiao Yue (Joint Chairman) 8/8
Mr. Xu Nian Chun 2/8
Ms. Guo Yan Ni 3/8
Mr. Long Min Fei 2/8
Dr. Chen Heng Long

(resigned on 8 June 2011) 1/6
Non-executive Director
Mr. Chan Yuk Tong

(resigned on 24 May 2011) 0/4
Independent Non-executive Director
Ms. Zhu Jing Hua 2/8
Mr. Zhang Wen 3/8
Mr. Li Xin Zhong 2/8

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For a regular board meeting, notice of at least fourteen days is
given to all directors of the Company, who are given an opportunity
to include matters in the agenda for discussion, and an agenda
and accompanying board papers are sent to all directors of the
Company at least three days before the intended date of a regular
board meeting.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are
kept by the secretary of the Company and are open for inspection
at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any director of the
Company. Draft and final versions of minutes of board meetings are
sent to all directors of the Company for their comment and records
respectively, in both cases within a reasonable time after the board
meeting is held.

Approximate insurance cover has been arranged in respect of legal
action against the directors and officers of the Group.

Non-executive Directors

Under code provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term and be subject to re-
election.

The three independent non-executive directors of the Company
were not appointed for a specific term, but are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meetings of the
Company in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The remuneration committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors of the Company, namely Ms. Zhu Jing Hua,
Mr. Zhang Wen and Mr. Li Xin Zhong.

The role and function of the remuneration committee primarily
include reviewing, considering and approving proposals as well as
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure relating to the remuneration of directors and senior
management.
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

The Board is empowered under the articles of association of the
Company to appoint any person as a director of the company either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board. No
nomination committee was established by the Company in view of
the small size of the Board. The Board as a whole is responsible
for considering the suitability of an individual to act as a director of
the Company, and approving and terminating the appointment of a
director of the Company.

The executive directors of the Company are responsible for
selecting and recommending suitable candidates for members of
the Board based on their characters, qualifications, experience
and background, when there is a vacancy or an additional director
is considered necessary. The recommendations of the executive
directors are then put forward for consideration by the Board.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company’s external auditors are Pan-China (H.K.) CPA Limited.
The audit fee and other services of the Company for the year ended
30 June 2010 was approximately HK$0.84 million.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the company was established on 18
January 2002 with written terms of reference which were revised
on 21 March 2005 in compliance with the code provision C.3.3 of
the Code. The audit committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors of the Company, namely Ms. Zhu Jing Hua
(chairman of the committee), Mr. Li Xin Zhong and Mr. Zhang Wen.
Ms. Zhu Jing Hua possesses appropriate professional accounting
qualifications and related financial management expertise as
required under rule 3.10 (2) of the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the audit committee include the review and
supervision of the financial reporting process and internal control
system, and the review of the interim and annual reports of the
Group.
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During the year, two meetings were held by the audit committee to
review the annual report of the Group for the year ended 30 June
2011 and the interim report of the Group for the six months ended
31 December 2010 before submission to the Board for approval,
and to provide advice and comments thereon to the Board. The
individual attendance of each member at the audit committee
meetings was as follows:

Members Attendance
Ms. Zhu Jing Hua 2/2
Mr. Li Xin Zhong 1/2
Mr. Zhang Wen 1/2

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
RESPONSBILITIES ON THE ACCOUNTS

The directors of the Company acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the accounts of the Group for the year ended 30 June
2011.

The statement by Messrs. Pan-China (H.K.) CPA Limited, the
existing external auditors of the Company, about their reporting
responsibilities on the accounts of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 29 and 30.

As at 30 June 2011, the directors of the Company confirm that,
to the best of their knowledge, information and belief, having
made all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Accordingly, the directors of the Company have prepared
the accounts of the Group on a going concern basis.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the responsibility to ensure that the Company
maintains sound and effective internal controls to safeguard
the shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets. The
internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and the
management rather than elimination of risks associated with the
business activities of the Group.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and encourage their participation.

The directors of the Company host the annual general meeting each
year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquires.

Under code provision E.1.2 of the Code, the Chairman of the Board
should attend, and the chairman of the audit and remuneration
committees should be available to answer questions at, the annual
general meeting of the Company.

The Chairman of the Board and the chairman of the audit committee
and remuneration committee were unable to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 20 December 2010 in
person, but the Chairman of the Board has already delegated to one
of the executive directors of the Company to chair the meeting on
his behalf and on behalf of the chairman of the audit committee and
the remuneration committee.

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’
REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Vitop
Bioenergy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 31 to
115, which comprise the consolidated and company statements
of financial position as at 30 June 2011, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of the report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

BRXFEEYERERAA
(RESHEEMAZABERLAF)
ERR

BEECDEREIIENCEMBERFEMERSE
RAB([ERR) REMBAR (AHEEE
=) e BRE MY BRREBER=-F
——FRNAZTENKEAG RRAMBIRR
RBEZALFENGREEHEKRGER KEE
SEPRMEARERNER URBAGTHK
RMENEMBEREILEER -

A A B R B AT

BERAREFARARETSGTMASHEM
BB B HREER RIRREE R ARDIA
BRERAERBEEEQATHNEAMBRER &
BEERAMNREIFEARRFFRERM
EYMERERRANGAVBREM S B
WA 22 ) P BB R 1 o

1% BCH ) AT

EENAEIERBEESNEREZEHREN
BHRBEXRBR LER BTHEAR fAE
Hfig - BEEM I ARENATHTME
tATBENEREEMEL

EEERBEFLETMAGRMNBBZA
HRIETEZ SZFEUBREFZETERM
o UWHRENATER NEERERFHES
MBRREE N7 H T ERERRA -

KA A PR 2w
—T——FFR

29



30

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’
REPORT

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group
as at 30 June 2011 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PAN-CHINA (H.K.) CPA LIMITED
20/F., Hong Kong Trade Centre,
161-167 Des Voeux Road,
Central, Hong Kong,

Hong Kong S.A.R., China

Hong Kong, 30 September 2011

Choi Man Chau, Michael
Practising Certificate Number PO1188
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF %% & 2= 1 W %5 3%
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 30 June 2011 HE_ZT—FNAZ=ZTHLFE
2011 2010
—E——5F —E-TF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FATT
Revenue Wz 6 27,217 67,540
Cost of sales §H 5 P AR (15,612) (44,662)
Gross profit ESVl 11,605 22,878
Other income H g A 6 6,834 5,066
Selling and distribution costs SHE oy $H A AR (11,301) (15,512)
Administrative expenses THEIEE R (21,805) (24,025)
Other operating expenses HhE a8 A (7,081) (7,243)
Loss from operating activities K EE 7 (21,748) (18,836)
Finance costs 81 7% S 8 (1,754) (62)
Loss before income tax expense Br TS TG L AT S 18 (23,502) (18,898)
Income tax expense Fris®if X 9 - (166)
Loss for the year REEEE (23,502) (19,064)
Attributable to: THA LR
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIEZ T =N 10 (23,315) (19,104)
Non-controlling interests FE5 R (187) 40
Loss for the year KFEEEE (23,502) (19,064)
Loss per share attributable FARRAEAE A (restated)
to owners of the Company L EREER (E751)
during the year 12
Basic AKX HK (2.55) centsi 1l HK (2.09) centsi& Il
Diluted e N/A =& R N/A 7~
REEW AR AR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF %
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

CEALE S

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE_ZT——FXA=THILHFE
2011 2010
———f e
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FHET T T
Loss for the year KEEEE (23,502) (19,064)
Other comprehensive income Hip 2w
Exchange translation differences EERERERLN
recognised directly in equity IE =% 2,420 1,462
Total comprehensive loss for AEErHEBIBEE
the year, net of tax MR IE (21,082) (17,602)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income  T7| AT EEETE
attributable to: (BE) / =g
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIE7F =N (20,895) (17,642)
Non-controlling interests eI = (187) 40
(21,082) (17,602)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2011

% 13 B B IR D e

RZE——FA="H

2011 2010
—E——fF —E—FF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 2 FExT FAET
(restated)
(&751)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAME
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BB kEE 14 3,183 3,982
Intangible assets B EE 15 295 317
Avalilable-for-sale investments AHEXREEE 18 19,260 22,033
Pledged bank deposit BHERIRITER 21 - 20
22,738 26,352
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 19 21,070 21,641
Trade receivables Z 5 B ARK 20 1,283 1,082
Deposits, prepayments and Ale - FERRIER
other receivables Hh fE AR K 31,612 26,315
Financial assets designated at fair ~ #§7F &1E A FEH K &7 A
value through profit or loss A BRI S EE 17 - 1,836
Cash and bank balances Be RETERF 21 10,950 8,662
64,915 59,536
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B S EMNER 22 3,813 12,815
Accrued liabilities and other payables & 51 & (& K £t JE 1+ BR 3¢ 14,161 11,828
Deposits received BET& 9,404 9,368
Obligation under finance lease BMEHENET
— current portion — e H 23 51 71
Interest-bearing bank loans FEIRITER 24 - 2146
Convertible notes Al ¥ E 25 27,739 =
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEAE 26 654 -
55,822 36,228
Net current assets RBEEFE 9,093 23,308
Total assets less current EEHERABESE
liabilities 31,831 49,660
RAEA Y A R 2w
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF % & Mkt %
FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2011 RZE——FA="H
2011 2010
S —T-T%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
B 5 FERT FAT
(restated)
(Z5)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Obligation under finance lease MEMHEMNT T
— non-current portion —JEmEE D 23 - 51
- 51
Net assets BEEFE 31,831 49,609
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of ZAARQFHEE AEGEZR
the Company
Share capital fi& A< 27 22,070 22,070
Reserves B 29 7,673 25,264
29,743 47,334
Non-controlling interests FERER 2,088 2,275
Total equity MR 31,831 49,609

Han Xiao Yue Guo Yan Ni
Director Director
EF EF

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION

As at 30 June 2011

B4 5 51K Dt e

RZE——FA="H

35

2011 2010
—E——F —E—FF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 2 FExT F&TT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries R B A R R RS 16 13,000 29,691
Available-for-sale investments AHEREEE 18 16,850 18,700
29,850 48,391
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U B~ R EUIE 16 34,920 14,979
Deposits, prepayments and Al BNRIER
other receivables E 4t UL BR X 1,753 1,753
Cash and bank balances Re MIBTET 21 26 26
36,699 16,758
Current liabilities RBAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEATBY B & R 5RIA 16 4,111 10,191
Accrued liabilities and other payables  E&T 8 & & H fth J& 1+ BR 5k 721 547
Convertible notes AR R 25 27,739 =
Deferred tax liabilities EIETIEAE 26 654 -
33,225 10,738
Net current assets RBEEEE 3,474 6,020
Net assets EEFE 33,324 54,411
EQUITY ER
Share capital f% Z< 27 22,070 22,070
Reserves 1 29 11,254 32,341
Total equity R 33,324 54,411
Han Xiao Yue Guo Yan Ni
Director Director
B -
EZE EZE
KRAEE A R A W
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

o Bl e R

BHE—T——FRXA=THILFE

2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHT T T
Cash flows from operating activities REXEBNREERE
Loss before income tax expense BrETIS T X AT ET 18 (23,502) (18,898)
Adjustments for: BT SEELAE:
Interest income 2 WA (77) (241)
Depreciation e 1,376 1,795
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEH#H 37 993
Loss on disposal of property, LEWME  HEREE
plant and equipment H 18 144 3
Impairment loss recognised in respect of  FL B 5 EWEER
trade receivables BRHIREESIE 594 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of BRI EREEH
available-for-sale investment ERH R ERE 2,934 3,000
Impairment loss recognised in respect of it £ b & Uk BR ZUAE R
other receivables KR EEBE 2,590 1,101
Reversal of impairment loss on R 17 &R E BT 18
inventories - (1,330)
Provision for obsolete and slow-moving PREE RS HTT & B
inventories = 1,773
Dividend income from available-for-sale ATHEREEE REBIKA
investments - (900)
Fair value loss on financial BEREAFEYERER
assets designated at fair value B Ak ) 3k 5 48 B9 Bt 75
through profit or loss BENQAFEEE (644) (1,245)
Finance costs B3 57 62
Operating loss before working capital RETEEESEFHHW
changes LE A (16,491) (13,887)
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FERD, (M) 571 (7,134)
(Increase)/Decrease in trade receivables B o RWBRR (35m),m (794) 512
Increase in deposits, prepayments HERSAESEP
and other receivables H b Uk BR FRAE N (7,888) (1,699)
Decrease in pledged deposit BB FIOR LD 20 -
(Decrease)/Increase in trade payables ZZEMBER CRD) (9,002) 9,073
Increase in accrued liabilities fEET B & R H e
and other payables 3R B8 0 4,029 2,389
Increase in deposits received 2 U ET & 38 hn 36 442
Cash used in operations KEEBAMNES (29,519) (10,304)
PRC corporate income taxes paid ENRREPEMER = (1,106)
Interest paid AR E (57) (62)
Net cash used in operating activities KEEFERES TS (29,576) (11,472)

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

o Bl i e R

—E——FRA=THILFE

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FATT
Cash flows from investing activities REZHNRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEE W%  ME L& E (189) (726)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BEKRRE
plant and equipment FriS3k18 - 2
Proceeds from financial assets upon B 15 & = B 5
to maturity B T 1S SRIE 2,480 -
Purchase of intangible assets BEEFEE = (345)
Invest in available-for-sale investments R EREEENKRE - (3,333)
Interest received B U B 77 241
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEEZBEEL/(ER)
investing activities HIE & 55 2,368 (4,161)
Cash flows from financing activities METHNRESRE
Repayment of bank loans EEETER (2,146) (354)
Repayment of obligation EEMEHENETE
under finance lease (71) (104)
Net proceeds from issue of BITAIRREERS
convertible notes FTi8 ;B 58 30,000 -
Net cash generated from/(used in) MmEEHEE, (EA)
financing activities wIE & 55 27,783 (458)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash ReRBESEEYEM
and cash equivalents (RD) REE 575 (16,091)
Cash and cash equivalents FUANRESRRESEEY
at beginning of the year 8,662 23,291
Effect of foreign exchange EXSEHNTE
rate changes 1,713 1,462
Cash and cash equivalents FRNESREASEEY
at end of the year 10,950 8,662
REEW AR AR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF AR B R
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE_ZT——FXA=THILHFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FOAERARLER
Retained
Capital Convertible Share profits/ Non-
Share Share  Statutory redemption Capital ~ Translation notes option (Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium*  reserve*  reserve*  reserve*  reserve*  reserve*  reserve*  losses)* Total interests equity
&% TER  BRE REER/ FER

& ROEE iERE HEER  EAER ENGR REER i (ZRER) A% Bi L
HK§'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TETL TETL TERL TATL TEL TEL TEL TEL

At July 2009 RZEENE
thA-R 22,070 56,260 8,789 29 28,764 8,197 - 8,619 67,752) 64,976 2,235 67,211
Total comprehensive TER2ENELE
income for the year - - - - - 1,462 - - (19,104) (17,642) 40 (17,602)
Share option lapsed BAMMBRE - - - - - - - (8.619) 8,619 - - -
At 30 June 2010 RZB-B%
~A=TH 22,070 56,260 8,789 29 28,764 9,659 - - (78,287) 47,334 2,275 49,609
At 1 July 2010 RIE-ZE
thA-R 22,070 56,260 8,789 29 28,764 9,659 - - (78,237) 47,334 2,215 49,609
Total comprehensive TER2ENELE
income for the year - - - - - 2420 - - (23,319) (20,89%) (187) (21,082)
Issue convertiole notes BaBRER - - - - - - 3,958 - - 3,958 - 3,958
Deferred tax liabiities on %77 AT ARZ K
issue of convertible notes  EXERIEAE - - - - - - (654) - - (654) - (654)
At 30 June 2011 R=%--%
~AZTA 22,070 56,260 8,789 29 28,764 12,079 3,304 - (101,552) 29,743 2,088 31,831

& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * NERBERPEFEHNGEEMBARAERSP
HK$7,673,000 (2010: HK$25,264,000) in the consolidated statement 7,673,000 TR A RE(ZTE—ZTF:
of financial position. 25,264,000/ 7T ) °

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL W55 R 3% B G
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE-_ZT—FA=THLHEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands on
15 February 2001 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman lIslands. The
Company withdrew the listing of its shares on The Growth
Enterprise Market (the “GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 10 February
2003, and on the same date, by way of introduction, listed
its entire issued share capital on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

The Company’s registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-111, Cayman
Islands. The Company’s principal place of business is Suites
913-917, 9/F Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong during the year.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are manufacturing
and trading of BIOenergy products, healthcare food products,
multi-functional water generators and other healthcare
products in the People’s Republic of China, excluding Hong
Kong and Macau (the “PRC”).

The consolidated financial statements on pages 31 to
115 have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). The consolidated financial
statements also include the applicable disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2011 were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors on 30 September 2011.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

2. IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and revised Standards, Amendments and Interpretations (“new
and revised HKFRSs”) issued by HKICPA.

S 5 e 2 Bt ik

——FRB=TRHIEFE

%JT%T&,%%W‘*T%Q%E%?%
ot e I Y R 2

RAFEE AEECEATIHEES
FHED A G MM HIFTR] RAEIERT R &
Rl Rt ([FR] RGERIBAEM B HE

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 2 (Amendments)

HKAS 32 (Amendments)

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009

Amendments to HKAS 27 and HKFRS 3
as part of Improvements to HKFRSs
issued in 2010

Additional Exemptions for First-time
Adopters

Limited Exemption from Comparative
HKFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time
Adopters

Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment
Transactions

Classification of Rights Issues

#8]) -

SEBBMBRE :%*ﬂﬁylﬁé‘%ﬂﬁ%
2R (B3] K) FEER M YE
SEBBMBRE éﬁ*a SHERIE2TR R E

2R (BRI K)

R e
MR ERR =T —

TERHOBEYER
EERME
BAMBREEN BREREOBIERR
F15% (BFTX)
BERBREEN  ERARAERTAMBR
F15% (BFTX) EEAFTHRRELR
ERNBRAES
BEUBREEN KERSEENROAE
F25% (BFTK) RAFNR S
BAGER D18

HK - Int 5 Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments

HK(IFRIC) - Int 19

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact
of HK Interpretation 5, the adoption of the new and revised
HKFRSs has had no significant financial effect on these
financial statements.

The principal effects of adopting HK Interpretation 5 is as
follow:

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause (‘HK Int 5)
clarifies that term loans that include a clause that gives the
lender the unconditional rights to call the loans at any time
(‘repayment on demand clause’) should be classified by the
borrower as current liabilities. The Group has applied HK Int 5
for the first time in the current year. Hong Kong Interpretation
5 requires retrospective application.
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e‘.\
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A 755 ¥t % Bt ik
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2011 HE_ZT—FNAZ=ZTHLFE
A 2 T 2= N K,
2. IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED 2. BNET M BB ET A Uk BB
e =% .
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING e 45 e I B 522 o)
STANDARDS (continued)
In order to comply with the requirements set out in the AEREEEREESRMERTE A5E
HK Int 5, the Group has changed its accounting policy on EREEEHAYRSREREREND
classification of term loans with a repayment on demand EHERSBENEHBR - BAEZESR
clause. In the past, the classification of such term loans were HEXSBHREER B E M HEE
determined based on the agreed scheduled repayment dates FENAHET BREEERESEST
set out in the loan agreements. Under HK Int 5, term loans BEREREERXNERERIER
with a repayment on demand clause are classified as current MBI EE-
liabilities.
As a result, bank loans that contain a repayment on demand B R=ZZF—ZFFAA=ZF+THE=Z
clause with the aggregate carrying amounts of HK$1,749,000 —EF A —HBKREER,749,0008
have been reclassified from non-current liabilities to current TEEEREREREENMRITENRE B
liabilities as at 30 June 2010 and 1 July 2010 respectively. ERDEBEEHSBERRPAB- R
As at 30 June 2011, the Group did not have bank loan. The E——FXNAZ+TH AEBENERT
application of HK Int 5 has had no impact on the reported B -EREAZREBESREAFENE
profit or loss for the current year. EHaMHEET R Z -
The above change has had no effect on the consolidated g HGEerENERTELE -
statement of comprehensive income. The effect on the HAEER_ZTENFLHA—B =%
consolidated statements of financial position of the Group at 1 —EEN_T——FEXA=ZTHANES
July 2009, 30 June 2010 and 2011 is summarised as follow: AR EROFZERMNT
At At At
30 June 30 June 1 July
2011 2010 2009
RZE——F RZZTE—ZTF RIZZEZNF
NAZ=TH ~NAZ=+H +H—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FAETT
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Increase in interest-bearing AT BERTT & R IE N
bank borrowing - 1,749 =

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ¥ %GB & E
Decrease in interest-bearing 5+ B R 17& F R 2
bank borrowing - (1,749 .

KA A PR 2w
—T——FFR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

2. IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

There was also no impact on the net assets of the Group.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
Standards, Amendments and Interpretations that have been
issued but are not yet effective.

HKAS 1 (Amendments)
HKAS 12 (Amendments)

HKAS 19

(as revised in 2011)
HKAS 24

(as revised in 2009)
HKAS 27

(as revised in 2011)
HKAS 28

(as revised in 2011)
HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11
HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13
HKFRSs (Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) - Int 14
(Amendments)

Presentation of items of Other
Comprehensive Income!”
Deferred Tax — Recovery of

Underlying Assets®
Employee Benefits®

Related Party Disclosures®
Separate Financial Statements®

Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures®

Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets®

Financial Instruments®

Consolidated Financial
Statements®

Joint Arrangements®

Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities®

Fair Value Measurement®

Amendments to HKAS 1,
HKAS 34, HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7
and HK(IFRIC) — Int 13
as part of improvements to
HKFRSs issued in 20109

Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement@

() Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.
@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2013.

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2011.

“ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.
© Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2012.

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2011
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation

The significant accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are summarised below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented
unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
the revaluation of certain assets and liabilities. The
measurement bases are fully described in the accounting
policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. Although these estimates are based
on management’s best knowledge and judgement of
current events and actions, actual results may ultimately
differ from those estimates. The areas involving higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
note 4.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
made up to 30 June each year.

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the
power to control the financial and operating policies
so as to obtain benefits from their activities. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable are considered when assessing
whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are excluded from
consolidation from the date that control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL W55 R 3% B G
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE_ZT——FXA=THILHFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3. FEEFTEORME (@)

3.3 Subsidiaries 3.3 MtJE

Business combinations are accounted for by applying
the purchase method. This involves the revaluation at
fair value of all identifiable assets and liabilities, including
contingent liabilities of the subsidiary, at the acquisition
date, regardless of whether or not they were recorded
in the financial statements of the subsidiary prior to
acquisition. On initial recognition, the assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position at their fair values, which
are also used as the bases for subsequent measurement
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment loss
unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included in
a disposal group. The results of the subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivables at the end of the reporting
period.

Non-controlling interest represents the portion of the
profit or loss and net assets of a subsidiary attributable
to equity interest that are not owned by the Group and
are not the Group’s financial liabilities.

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3

3.4

Subsidiaries (continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within equity,
separately from the equity attributable to the owners of
the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total comprehensive income for the year between
non-controlling interests and the owners of the company
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of an asset
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to the working condition
and location for its intended use. Subsequent costs are
included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All other costs, such as
repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of
consolidated comprehensive income during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis

to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment,

less any estimated residual values, over the following
estimated useful lives:

Leasehold improvements 5 years or over

the lease terms,

whichever is shorter

8 to 12 years

3 to 8 years

8 years

Machinery and equipment
Furniture and office equipment
Motor vehicles

S 5 e 2 Bt ik

HE—

——FRAB=TRHIFE

3. FEEFTEORME (8

3.3

3.4

R R/NEIRE )

FERE D RS P BARRE
BEEBA PR BAREEEG ARG
%E“ﬁ%ﬂ AEBRETHFE
%h%\ FeErmBERAFA

M?#T%%\&K %A A
ZEMEmkEAEES BIE L
R G I R s IR B Al A

Y3~ W5 Bk

BRERTRRIN - ME BB RR

Ty AME R R AT & RORE B 1R
SRR -BERABEREBEERE
<& EEHEZENR KRN
FEBRERGNEREBERA B
BARAESEEIE B A BAARRE
BN A R AN SEE A% B K
A st B8R R T ER SR
ANEERABEXRRASBLEE -

P EMAA (e RRE) T
RELZNMBHBARGS 2 HEHK
R kR

P& 3% DA B9 fh 5t AT B 4R B A
BERZEMBEYME BE MR ERIK
AR OB AE A 5 5T Y R B B (E R

At
=

HEWMEEE FF IR A
FH (AR

RmERE)

23 K 7% A J\
RERBEAERE =%\
"B J\F
AR A 0 e F A R 8

—T——FFR

45



46

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL W55 R 3% B G
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE_ZT——FXA=THILHFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FEEFTEUORME &)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.4 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

3.5

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets.

Financial assets

Financial assets other than hedging instruments are
classified into the following categories: loans and
receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, available-for-sale financial assets and held-to
maturity investments.

Management determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition depending on the purpose
for which the financial assets were acquired and where
allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at
every reporting date.

All financial assets are recognised when, and only when,
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case
of investments not at fair value through profit or loss,
directly attributable transaction costs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE-_ZT—FA=THLHEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3. FEEFTEORME (8

3.5 MBERE (&)

3.5 Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights
to receive cash flows from the investments expire or are
transferred and substantially all of the risks and rewards
of ownership have been transferred. At the end of each
reporting period, financial assets are reviewed to assess
whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If any
of such evidence exists, impairment loss is determined
and recognised based on the classification of the
financial assets.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
includes financial assets held for trading and financial
assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss.

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments or financial
guarantee contracts.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be designated
as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss,
except where the embedded derivative does not
significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear that
separation of the embedded derivative is prohibited.

Financial assets may be designated at initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss if the following
criteria are met:

- the designation eliminates or significantly reduces
the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise
arise from measuring the assets or recognising
gains or losses on them on a different basis; or
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE_ZT——FXA=THILHFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FEEFTEUORME &)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.5 MBEE (8)

3.5 Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

- the assets are part of a group of financial assets
which are managed and their performance
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with a documented risk management strategy and
information about the group of financial assets
is provided internally on that basis to the key
management personnel; or

- the financial asset contains an embedded derivative
that would need to be separately recorded.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated or not classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables or held-to-maturity investments. At the end
of each reporting period subsequent to initial recognition,
available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair
value. Changes in fair value are recognised in equity, until
the financial assets is disposed of or is determined to
be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in equity is removed from equity
and recognised in profit or loss. Any impairment losses
on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised
in profit or loss. Impairment losses on available-for-
sale equity investments will not reverse in profit or
loss in subsequent periods. For available-for-sale debt
investments, impairment losses are subsequently
reversed if an increase in the fair value of the investment
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
recognition of the impairment loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE-_ZT—FA=THLHEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FEEFTEUORME &)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.5 Financial assets (continued) W& ()
Available-for-sale financial assets (continued) i Y EEE (&)

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose
fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives
that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of
such unquoted equity investment, they are measured to
cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of
each reporting period subsequent to initial recognition.
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when
there is objective evidence that the assets is impaired.
The amount of the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the asset
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Such impairment losses will not
reverse in subsequent periods.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income, is transferred
from equity to the statement of comprehensive income.
A provision for impairment is made for available-
for-sale equity investments when there has been a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below
its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment
exists. The determination of what is “significant” or
“prolonged” requires judgement. In addition, the Group
evaluates other factors, such as the share price volatility.
Impairment losses on equity instruments classified as
available-for-sale are not reversed through the statement
of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE_ZT——FXA=THILHFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3. FEEFTEORME (@)

3.5 MBERE (&)

3.5 Financial assets (continued)

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Trade receivables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment losses. Amortised cost is
calculated taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate and transaction cost.

Impairment of financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, financial assets
other than those at fair value through profit or loss are
reviewed to determine whether there is any objective
evidence of impairment. If any such evidence exists, the
impairment loss is measured and recognised as follows:

Trade receivables

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on
trade receivables carried at amortised cost has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. The amount of the loss is recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income of the period in
which the impairment occurs.

If, in subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed to the extent that it does not result in a
carrying amount of the financial asset exceeding what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised at the date the impairment is
reversed. The amount of the reversal is recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income of the period in
which the reversal occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.6

3.7

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using weighted
average method and, in the case of work in progress
and finished goods, comprise direct materials, where
applicable, direct labour and an appropriate proportion
of overheads. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less any
applicable selling expenses.

Intangible assets and research and development
costs

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are recognised
initially at cost. After initial recognition, intangible
assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is provided on straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried
at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment
losses. Intangible assets are tested for impairment as
described below in note 3.10. Amortisation commences
when the intangible assets are available for use.

Patents and technical know-how are recognised as
intangible assets and amortised on a straight line basis
over their useful lives.

3.6

3.7
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE_ZT——FXA=THILHFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3. FEEFTEORME (@)

3.7 MY R KR A ()

3.7 Intangible assets and research and development

Ccosts (continued)
Research and development costs

Costs associated with research activities are expensed in
the statement of comprehensive income as they occur.
Costs that are directly attributable to the development
phase are recognised as intangible assets provided they
meet the following recognition requirements:

(i) demonstration of technical feasibility of the
prospective product for internal use or sale;

(i) there is intention to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it;

(ili)  the Group’s ability to use or sell the intangible asset
is demonstrated;

(iv) the intangible asset will generate probable
economic benefits through internal use or sale;

(v)  sufficient technical, financial and other resources
are available for completion; and

(vi) the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
can be reliably measured.

Direct costs include employee costs incurred on
development along with an appropriate portion of
relevant overheads. The costs of internally generated
product developments are recognised as intangible
assets. They are subject to the same subsequent
measurement method as externally acquired intangible
assets.

Development costs recognised as intangible assets are
amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives.

All other development costs are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE-_ZT—FA=THLHEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3. FEEFTEORME (8

3.8 Income tax 3.8 FIrfgH

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
deferred tax. Current income tax assets and/or liabilities
comprise those obligations to, or claims from, tax
authorities relating to the current or prior reporting
period, that are unpaid at the end of the reporting
period. They are calculated according to the tax rates
and tax laws applicable to the periods to which they
relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All
changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised
as a component of tax expense in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or
recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using
the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.8

3.9

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the year when the liability is settled
or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited
to the statement of comprehensive income, except when
it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity,
in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short term, highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

3.10 Impairment of assets

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
interests in subsidiaries are subject to impairment
testing.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting
market conditions less costs to sell, and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pretax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of
time value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent from those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generate cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit). As a result, some assets are
tested individually for impairment and some are tested at
cash-generating unit level.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.10 Impairment of assets (continued)

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units
is charged pro rata to the assets in the cash generating
unit, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less cost to sell, or
value in use, if determinable.

An impairment is reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s
recoverable amount and only to the extent that the
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised. A reversal of an impairment loss is
credited to the statement of comprehensive income in
the period in which it arises.

3.11 Employee benefits

(i) Retirement benefits scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “Retirement Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in
the Retirement Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the statement of
comprehensive income as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the Retirement
Scheme. The assets of the Retirement Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the Retirement
Scheme except for the Group’s employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group
when an employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the
rules of the Retirement Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.11 Employee benefits (continued)

)

(i)

Retirement benefits scheme (continued)

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the
government of the PRC, subsidiaries of the Group
operating in the PRC are required to participate
in an employee pension scheme operated by the
relevant local government authorities in the PRC
and to make contributions for employees who are
registered as permanent residents in the PRC.
Such contributions are charged to the statement of
comprehensive income as they become payable.

Share-based employee compensation

The Group operates equity-settled share-based
compensation plans for remuneration of its
employees.

All employee services received in exchange for
the grant of any share-based compensation are
measured at their fair values. These are indirectly
determined by reference to the share options
awarded. The value is appraised at the grant date
and excludes the impact of any nonmarket vesting
conditions.

All share-based compensation is recognised as
an expense in the statement of comprehensive
income, unless it qualifies for recognition as asset,
with a corresponding credit to share option reserve.
If vesting periods or other vesting conditions apply,
the expense is recognised over the vesting period,
based on the best available estimate of the number
of share options expected to vest. Non-market
vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options that are expected to
vest. Estimates are subsequently revised, if there
is any indication that the number of share options
expected to vest differs from previous estimates.
No adjustment to expense recognised in prior
periods is made if fewer share options ultimately
are exercised than originally estimated.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.11 Employee benefits (continued)

(ii) Share-based employee compensation
(continued)

At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to retained profits.

3.12 Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

(i) Share options granted to employees

Details of the accounting policy are set out in note
3.11 (i)

(ii) Share options granted to customers/suppliers

Share options issued to customers/suppliers in
exchange for goods or services are measured at
the fair values of the goods or services received.
The fair values of the goods or services received
are recognised immediately as expenses, unless
the goods or services qualify for recognition as
assets.

3.13 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual agreements of the
instrument. All interest related charges are recognised
as an expense in finance costs in the statement of
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE_ZT——FXA=THILHFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FEEFTEUORME &)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

33 M AEME (8)

3.13 Financial liabilities (continued)

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and are subsequently stated
at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds
(net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional rights to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method.

3.14 Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Company are classified
separately as financial liabilities and equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instruments. Conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments.
This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised
cost basis using the effective interest method until
extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s
maturity date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE-_ZT—FA=THLHEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3. FEEFTEORME (8

3.14 v B (&)

3.14 Convertible notes (continued)

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component from
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole.
This is recognised and included in equity, net of income
tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In
addition, the conversion option classified as equity will
remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised,
in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible note, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to retain profits. No gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the
conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible notes are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of the gross
proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are recognised directly in equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability component and are
amortised over the lives of the convertible notes using
the effective interest method.

3.15 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have
been issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of
shares are deducted from share premium (net of any
related income tax benefits) to the extent they are
incremental costs directly attributable to the equity
transaction.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.16 Income recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when
the revenue can be measured reliably, on the following
bases:

(i) Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised
on the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership,
provided that the Group maintains neither
managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with the ownership, nor effective control
over the goods sold;

(i) Interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis, taking into account the principal amounts
outstanding and the effective interest rates
applicable; and

(i)  Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s
rights as a shareholder to receive payment is
established.

3.17 Related parties

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if:

(i) directly, or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, the party:

- controls, is controlled by, or is under common
control with, the Group; or

- has an interest in the Group that gives it
significant influence over the Group; or

- has joint control over the Group;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.17 Related parties (continued)

(i)  the party is an associate or a jointly controlled
entity;

(i)  the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or its parent;

(iv) the party is a close member of the family or any
individual referred to in (i) or (iii);

(v) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for which
significant voting power in such entity resides with,
directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (i)
or (iv); or

(vi)  the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of the Group, or of any entity
that is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the
entity.

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or
obligations between related parties.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

BE-T-——F#~A=tALEE

3. FEE

FHEOR MR (@)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.18 Leases

a

(i)

Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks
and rewards of ownership are retained by the
lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments
made under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are changed to the
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease.

Finance leases

The Group leases certain property, plant and
equipment. Leases of property, plant and
equipment where the Group has substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at
the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair
value of the leased asset and the present value of
the minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance charges so as to achieve a
constant rate on the finance balance outstanding.
The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in current and non-current
liabilities. The interest element of the finance cost is
charged to the statement of comprehensive income
over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE-_ZT—FA=THLHEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FEEFTEUORME &)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.19 Foreign currencies 3.19 Ak
The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong B RS R AE R BT AR
dollars (HK$), which is also the functional currency of the MR E R -
Company.
In the separate financial statements of the consolidated EEEAEBEES BN ET®RET I

entities, foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency of the individual entity
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At balance sheet date, monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at year-end exchange
rates are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income.

In the consolidated financial statements, all separate
financial statements of subsidiaries and jointly controlled
entities originally presented in a currency different from
the Group’s presentation currency, have been converted
into Hong Kong dollars. Assets and liabilities have been
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing rate at
the balance sheet date. Income and expenses have been
converted into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates, or the average rates over
the reporting period provided that the exchange rates
do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from
this procedure have been dealt with in the translation
reserve in equity. Goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity have been
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing rates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE_ZT——FXA=THILHFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3. FEEFTEORME (@)

3.20 ISR A &) ~ S K a9k

3.20 Financial guarantee contract, provisions and

contingent liabilities

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer (or guarantor) to make specified payments
to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtors fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the
fair value of the guarantee is initially recognised as
deferred income within trade and other payables.
Where consideration is received or receivables for the
issuance of guarantee, the consideration is recognised
in accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivables, an immediate expense is
recognised as investment in subsidiaries on initial
recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in the income statement
over the term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantee issued. In addition, provisions are recognised
if and when it becomes probable that the holder of
the guarantee will call upon the Group under the
guarantee and the amount of that claim on the Group is
expected to exceed the current carrying amount, where
appropriate.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected
to settle the obligation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE-_ZT—FA=THLHEE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. FEEFTEUORME &)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3.20 BA B IR G 40 R S R

3.20 Financial guarantee contract, provisions and

contingent liabilities (continued)

Present obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability
where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation or the
amount of the obligation cannot be measured with
sufficient reliably. Possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future event(s) is also disclosed as a contingent liability
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

3.21 Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified
as a separate allocation of retained profits or other
distributable reserves, where appropriate, within the
equity section of the statement of financial position,
until they have been approved by the shareholders in
a general meeting. When these dividends have been
approved by the shareholders and declared, they are
recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when
they are proposed and declared.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(A) Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations as
discussed below, which have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

(i) Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or
the event previously causing the impairment no
longer exists, the management has to exercise
judgement in the area of asset impairment,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred that may affect the asset value or such
event affecting the asset value has not been in
existence; (2) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset or derecognition;
and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be
applied in preparing cash flow projections are
discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the
assumptions selected by management to determine
the level of impairment, including the discount rates
or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present
value used in the impairment test.

(ii) Income taxes

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL W55 R 3% B G
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE-_ZT—FA=THLHEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 4. FEEEEHE LA )

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)
(A) Judgements (continued)
(ii) Income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused
tax losses carried forward to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the unused tax losses
can be utilised, based on all available evidence.
Recognition primarily involves judgement regarding
the future performance of the particular legal
entity or tax group in which the deferred tax
asset has been recognised. A variety of other
factors are also evaluated in considering whether
there is convincing evidence that is probable that
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will
ultimately be realised, such as existence of taxable
temporary differences, tax planning strategies
and the periods in which estimated tax losses
can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred
tax assets and related financial models and
budgets are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and to the extent that there is insufficient
convincing evidence that sufficient taxable profits
will be available within the utilisation periods to
allow utilisation of the carry forward tax losses, the
asset balance will be reduced and charged to the
statement of comprehensive income.

(B) Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance
sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
Group’s assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are discussed below.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE_ZT——FXA=THILHFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

4. FE A E AL E e

(B) fhEF AWM R ()

(B) Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i) Impairment test of assets (i) B WA WA
The management determines whether an asset EEERLBFRNEER
is impaired at least on an annual basis or ENERETEERTDL
where an indication of impairment exists. This BE - WRFEHEENTH
requires an estimation of the value in use of the BEELGE mGstERE
asset. Estimating the value in use requires the EEEZEHEYHEHEERN
management to make an estimate of the expected EXNARFBEREELE
future cash flows from the assets and also to FoWEREENEEUGE
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate ZERERENHE-
the present value of those cash flows.

(ii) Income taxes (i) P Hi
The management reviews the carrying amount of EHEBEREREHREIE
deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting ERIBEEREE WATH
period and reduces the amount to the extent that it e B R HAEZRH AFMUAR
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits 2 8h FE 2 8P sk BB {0 Ik i B 1A
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred BERBRHKIREE - 28R H
tax assets to be utilised. This requires an estimation R EZRT S AER GG
of the future taxable profits. Estimating the future et RREREEANNT S
taxable profits requires the management to make EREEYRBASERES
an estimate of the expected future earnings of YR SR A FEH (L5 - 032
the Group and also to choose a suitable discount HENREUGTERTRE-
rate in order to calculate the present value of the
earnings.

(iii) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (i) Y3 > Ji J5 R 3 g 1y 97 &

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives,
after taking into account of their estimated residual
value. The determination of the useful lives and
residual values involve management’s estimation.
The management assesses annually the residual
value and the useful life of the property, plant and
equipment and if the expectation differs from the
original estimate, such a difference may impact the
depreciation in the year the estimate is changed
and the future period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE-_ZT—FA=THLHEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 4. FEEEEHE LA )

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)
(B) Estimation uncertainty (continued)
(iv) Amortisation of intangible assets

The Company amortises its intangible assets on
a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
life ranged from three to ten years, commencing
from the date on which the intangible assets are
available for use. The estimated useful life reflects
the directors’ estimate of the periods that the
company intends to derive future economic benefits
from its intangible assets.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 Operating Segments with
effect from 1 April 2009. HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard
that requires operating segments to be identified on the basis
of internal reports about components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker
for the purpose of allocating resources to segments and
assessing their performance. In contrast, the predecessor
standard (HKAS 14 “Segment Reporting”) required an entity
to identify two sets of segments (business and geographical)
using a risks and returns approach. In the past, the Group’s
primary reporting format was business segment. The
application of HKFRS 8 has not resulted in a redesignation
of the Group’s reportable segments as compared with the
primary reportable segments determined in accordance with
HKAS 14.

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal
reports which provides information about components of the
Group. These information are reported to and reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

S. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(A) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s
chief operating decision maker monitors the results,
assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable
segment on the following bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or
amortisation of assets attributable to those segment.
Head office and corporate expenses are not allocated to
individual segments.

Segment assets principally comprise all tangible
assets, intangible assets and current assets directly
attributable to each segment. All liabilities are allocated
to unallocated corporate liabilities.

The four reportable operating segments are listed as
follows:

(i) BlOenergy products:  manufacturing and trading
of bedding products,
underclothing and body
protection accessories
containing the BIOenergy
compound

(i) Healthcare food
products:

trading of healthcare food
products, including
polypeptide products

(i) Multi-functional
water generator:

manufacturing and trading
of multi-functional water
generator

(iv)  Others: trading of other healthcare
products and others

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2011
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(A) SEGMENT REVENUE, RESULTS, ASSETS
AND LIABILITIES (continued)

Business segments
The following tables present revenue, results and certain

assets, liabilities and expenditure information for the
Group’s business segments:

BlOenergy Healthcare
products food products
REZERZS) RERRE

201 2010 201 2010
Z%--F ST-FF S§--F ST%5
HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
THE AT TR TR

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

BE-FT-— XA tALEE

5. ERE R s
(A) Bzt ~ 48 EE K AEE

(&)
EHH
TR 2 HIAEE R Bk

$BRETEE ABRAXA
oF

Multi-functional
water generators Others

Consolidated
SMREKE At G4
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

2§--F “§-%% Z§--F “3-9F -§--F “3-9%
HK§'000

HK§'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TR TEL  TEn  TEn  TEx TEn

8,260 30614 2412 1,191 20217 67,540

(21 343 ) 1% 699 7365

Revenue: WA
Sadlestoexternal  HHNEEHE

customer 9,816 10,646 6,660 16,089
Segment result A PEE 2,026 773 (104) 2961
Unallocated other ~ B RAEMA

income
Unallocated FAERY

EXPENses

ok

Loss from operating 8% 18
activities
Finance cost

IS
Loss before income B BT S H B Al
tax expense Fi

Income tax expense FrEHiFX

Loss for the year AFEER

6,834 5,066

(29281)  (31,267)

(21,748)  (18,836)
(1,754) 62

(23,502)  (18,898)
- (166)

(23502) (19,064

RAEA Y A R 2w
—T——FFR
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TES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 72 B 5E

TEMENTS
e year ended 30 June 2011 HEZT——FA=ZTHILFE
SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. iR E R
(A) SEGMENT REVENUE, RESULTS, ASSETS (A) bl - ¥4 EERARK
AND LIABILITIES (continued) (')
Business segments (continued) KBS (E)
BlOenergy Healthcare Multi-functional
products food products water generators Others Consolidated
REZERR) RERE EZEES At Ga
201 2010 2011 2010 201 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Z%--% -%-%% ZE--§ -T-%F Z§--f -5-TF Z%--f -5-%fF Z%--f -T-%%
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tén TEr  TErR  TEx TRz  TErT  TErn  TEr  TEmx  Ti#n
Segment Assets A HEE 12,551 9,899 34,678 1,136 56,264
Unallocated assets R REE 27,624
Total assets EEDE 85,388
Segment liabilities A8 E 5,165 34,010
Unallocated liabilties £ AE & & 2,069
Total liabilities afeE 36,279
Other segment  EH2HER:
information:
Depreciation e 955 955
Unallocated RARNE
amount of i
depreciation 840
1,79
Amortisation of ENEEEY
intangible assets 2 993
Capital expenciture ~ EARFIX 869 869
Unallocated AARER
amounts of captel ~ EEEE
expenditure 201
1,070

P BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(B) Geographical segments

A geographical analysis of the Group’s revenue from
external customers, certain asset and expenditure
information is not presented as the Group’s revenue and
assets in geographical segments other than the PRC are
less than 10% of the aggregate amount of all segments.

Information about major customers

The Group has a very wide customer base, and no single
customer contributed more than 10% of the Group’s
revenue for each of the years ended 30 June 2010 and
2011.

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

(A) Revenue

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents
the net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances
for returns and trade discounts where applicable. All
significant intra-group transactions have been eliminated
on consolidation.

Turnover made in the PRC is subject to value added tax
(“VAT”) at a rate of 17% (“output VAT”). Such output VAT
is payable after offsetting VAT paid by the Company on
purchases (“input VAT”).

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

—FRA=ZTHELFE

o3 BB E R )
(B) b [ 43
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SRR EELSRERD #AE
FHRIEH10% B & 2 51| A K H
iR E DMK EHINEF K
m EBETEERAXERDN

(C) EHEFEFEHR

AEBRBITRZNEPER
RBE-_T-ZFR-_F——FX
AZ+THLFERF LEE-F
FiaAREBEUWERAIT10%A £ o
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(A) M
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OTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 i 2 B 5E

ATEMENTS

the year ended 30 June 2011

HE_ZT——FRA=THLFE

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 6. Wam M HAB I A (o)

(continued)

(B) Other Income

(B) HAtr A

Interest income

Reversal of impairment loss on
inventories

Reversal of accrued salaries

Dividend income from
available-for-sale investments

Fair value gain on financial assets
designated at fair value through
profit or loss

Others

Group
AEH
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAIT
B A 241
BEfFERERRE
1,330
BEETEHS -
AHEHREEEREKRA
900
EBEEREAFTEINER
BN Sk ) 2k 85 18 9 B 75
BEMRFERS 1,245
EAfh 1,350
5,066
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL W55 R 3% B G
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 HE-_Z—FA=THLHFE

7. LOSS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 7. &K%k

Loss from operating activities is arrived at after charging: KEBEDHR T EIE:
Group
rEE
2011 2010
—E2-—-F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
Auditor’s remuneration 1Z B8R B 2
Audit services EiZR 600 438
Non-audit services EEZRTE 240 =
Cost of inventories sold ERFEEXA 16,675 44,662
Staff costs B TR
Directors’ remuneration (note 13 (a)) E=WS (HMiE13()) 659 1,292
Wages and salaries TENFHS 11,876 16,018
Pension scheme contributions RN FHEIH KR 1,455 1,697
13,990 19,007
Depreciation e 1,376 1,795
Amortisation of intangible assets* | B EE 37 993
Exchange loss, net* b A B BIF R - 3
Operating lease charges in respect of RiE L RIEFHLE
land and buildings A 3,092 3,380
Provision for obsolete and slow-moving R [ & 84 17 & B 5+
inventories™ - 1l 773
Impairment loss recognised in respect of Ft & 5 & I BR FUFER A
trade receivables* FIEEE" 594 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of gt £ i & U B ZRE R &
other receivables* VoRIEN SR 2,590 1,101
Impairment loss recognised in respect of #t Al L& EE B R
available-for-sale investment* KR EEE 2,934 3,000
Loss on disposal of property, plant and  HEE - HE K& EEHH
equipment* B~ 144 3
* included in other operating expenses * FIAEMGKEERNA
REEWEERA R AR

T ——FFR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

8. FINANCE COSTS

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

BE-T-——F#~A=tALEE

8. HAHS

Interest on bank loans wholly repayable
within five years

Interest on finance leases

Interest on convertible notes

BRAFRABREEN

MEHENF L
AR IR R R

Group

rEE
2011 2010
—E——F —ZET-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T T T
24 62
33 -
1,697 -
1,754 62

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the Group
had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the
year (2010: Nil). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have
been calculated at the applicable rates of tax prevailing in the
jurisdiction in which the Group operates, based on existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof

during the year.

9. FrfeBibd

HRAEERFEFRNET L BELRR
BogM (—F—FF F) RAEAFD
BENGH B R - E 77 /B RV ®
MERIB IR AR EE L EB R RAE
EEFNEMRIBREBEFABRZADA
BERBEERAY 2B REG MTE -

Group

rEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$°’000 HK$'000
FET THETT

Current - PRC
Charge for the year

= 166

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

9.

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

#

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting

loss at applicable tax rates is as follows:

9.

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

—E——FRA=THILFE

Jilr 753858 B = o)

RERREAENMERAX RETE
BERIOT

Group
rE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAIT
Loss before income tax R P15 T4 A S 18 (23,502) (18,898)
Tax at the applicable tax rates (Note a) XA R E 8 E
(Mizxa) (5,130) (4,129)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses DGR A0k %32 1,606 1,401
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARBWAN S22 (15) (227)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised K HERF %5 E BRI FH 75
o 3,539 3,121
Income tax expense Frig 8 2 - 166

Notes:

a. The applicable rates are the rates prevailing in the jurisdictions in
which the Company and its subsidiaries operate.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF

THE COMPANY

Of the consolidated loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$23,315,000 (2010: loss of
HK$19,104,000), a loss of approximately HK$24,391,000
(2010: loss of HK$6,445,000) has been dealt with in the

financial statements of the Company.

o3 :

a ERMEAFATRENBANGEE
B RS EEEBORE.

10. A28 Al A N AL 5 1R

M #923,315,0008 7T (ZE—F4F : Fi8
19,104,000/ 7T ) A A Rl A A EIG4R
AEBET AQARRMBERRANEE
KB %) 524,391,000 L (ZE—F
F 1 £5186,445,000/8 7T ) °

FAE A Wy 2 I A IR 4 )
—T——FFR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

For the year ended 30 June 2011 HEZ —FRNA=ZTHLEE
11. DIVIDENDS 11. KB
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during RZENBEREEINESFE AR A
the years presented in these financial statements. W RN R EIREMARE -
12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO  12. A3/ &l #E A A JE Ak 45 i s
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY it\
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on loss FRERNBEIREHEE - ——F
attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended NAZTHLEFEARRBEBE AR
80 June 2011 of approximately HK$23,315,000 (2010: BB 423,315,000 L (ZE — %
HK$19,104,000) and the adjusted number of 914,301,420 F:19,104,000/8 7T ) & & 38 B K &
shares (2010: 914,301,420 shares, as adjusted for the effect 914,301,420 (ZZE —ZFF : g S 1
of a rights issue subsequent to the reporting period). The % H A 18 £914,301,4200% ) 5F
comparative figure of basic loss per share for the year ended B HEZZTFA=THLFE
30 June 2010 had been re-calculated to reflect the effect of a MNEREARNBELERBETEENTE
rights issue taken place on 18 July 2011, URBHR=ZZ——F AT N\BETH
BRI FTE-
The diluted loss per share for the years ended 30 June 2011 AREBRARR A RRERERBEREE
and 30 June 2010 has not been disclosed as the potential EWEBEERNDAGEASEEHEZ T ——
shares arising from the conversion of the Company’s FRAA=ZFTEERZZE—ZFA=+H
convertible notes and share options would decrease the loss EFENSREER) IERAER
per share of the Group for the years and is regarded as anti- ERE BNUYEREZSTENTR
dilutive. fiﬁféréﬁa °
TN By k= (=}
13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST 13. HHE N A =B EEBR
PAID EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION P <
(A) Directors’ emoluments (A) = FHM 4
The directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to RELTRREBEBREIGHE
the Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong 161 EFHEeMBEROT
Companies Ordinance is as follows:
Group
AEHE
2011 2010
—E——F —ZF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FETT
Fees we - -
Other emoluments: Hib < -
Salaries, allowances and e FMEREMH
benefits in kind 648 1,280
Pension scheme contributions RIS FTEIHE R 11 12
659 1,292

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION

(continued)

(A) Directors’ emoluments (continued)
The emoluments of each director, on a named basis,
for the years ended 30 June 2011 and 2010 are set out

below:

Year ended 30 June 2011

79

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

BE-FT-— XA tALEE

B.E#HELE I REHREEDN
M 4 ()

(A) HEBME (&)
REBEE-_ZT——FR T —ZF
A=+tBHBIFEE BUEZHNMNE
HEMRZS @M

BE-ZE——FXRA=1+HLEE

Salaries,

allowance Pension

Director and benefits scheme
fees in kind contributions Total

e 2y Bike
Esne REYH S FHEIft R &t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TET FTET TET
Han Qing Yun BEE = = = -
Han Xiao Yue L - - = =
Chen Heng Long (Note 1) BR1B#E (Pif5E1) - - = =
Guo Yan Ni Ll = = = -
Long Min Fei BEEAR = - - -
Xu Nian Chun RoB = = = -
Chan Yuk Tong (Note 2) BRE X (M2) - 648 1 659
Li Xin Zhong i - - - =
Zhang Wen 5K X - - - -
Zhu Jing Hua RERE - - - =
Total 2011 —E——F4&5 - 648 1 659

REEW AR AR

—T——FFR



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL W55 R 3% B G
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE_ZT——FXA=THILHFE

13. EH N LA EmHiE B
IEXE )

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION

(continued)

(A) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (A) EEME (@)

Year ended 30 June 2010 BE-Z—ZSFEXA=1THILEE

Salaries,
allowance Pension
Director and benefits scheme
fees in kind  contributions Total
e 2R BRe
2ok REWH = SHEIE K &%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET THET THET FHET
Han Qing Yun BEE - - - -
Han Xiao Yue TR - 560 - 560
Chen Heng Long fRiE 8 - - - -
Guo Yan Ni LY - - - -
Long Min Fei AR - - - -
Zhang He (Note 3) 5T (PEE3) - - - -
Xu Nian Chun ROHE - - - -
Chan Yuk Tong ME= - 720 12 732
Li Xin Zhong FHT - - - -
Zhang Wen wX - - - -
Zhu Jing Hua RERE _ _ _ _
Total 2010 —B-BEET - 1,280 12 1,292
Note: Bt 5 -
1. Resigned on 17 June 2011 1. RZZE——FA+EHEMF
2. Resigned on 24 May 2011 2. RIT——FRA-+TWHARE
3. Resigned on 17 December 2009 3. RITZENFT-ZATEHREE
There were no fees and other emoluments payable to FRWEENBLIFRITESZNW
the independent non-executive directors during the year e MNEMME (ZZE—FF &) o
(2010 Nil).

RBE_Z——FR-_ZT-TFX
A=Z1THLFE IBEENERX
FEREERAME T -

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
years ended 30 June 2011 and 2010.

During the year, no director (2010: Nil) has been granted FRN HEEE(ZZE—TF &)
with share options in respect of their services to the E 15 55 H A S E A RIS T R B AR
Group and further details of which were set out in note i R s A Ed ]
26 to the financial statements. 5126 °

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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BE-FT-— XA tALEE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION

(continued)

13. EFH MO HIEEB RN
IEXE )

(B) Five highest paid individuals (B) % m# A+

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the
year included one (2010: two) director, details of whose
emoluments have been disclosed in note (a) above. The
emoluments paid to the remaining four (2010: three) non-
directors, highest paid individuals for the year are as
follows:

FA AEERERSHALERE
— R (ZE-—TF MBI)ES H
EHNMeFBED N LXK @K
BE-FAXNTEROA(ZF—
TE ZR)FEF REFALHN
M

Group

AEE
2011 2010
—z——f —T-2F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FATT

Salaries, allowances e EMEREYH

and benefits in kind 1890 1,584
Pension scheme contributions RIKRE T B R 24 24
1,914 1,608

The number of the remaining highest paid individuals
whose emoluments fell within the following band is as
follows:

HM e FATHBEN RS H A
THARLT:

2011 2010
—2——F —TTF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 % 21,000,000/ 7T 4 3

During the years ended 30 June 2011 and 2010, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
or any of the five highest paid employees of the Group
as an inducement to join the Group or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

REBE_Z——FR_FT-ZFFX
A=1THILHFE AEETERE
EYEMASELEERFEEX
TEE - YERMARE B MAR
SEENRBIHIERBERME -

FAE A Wy 2 I A IR 4 )
—T——FFR



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL W55 R 3% B G
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE_ZT——FXA=THILHFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  14. ¥ 2 - ik = M 5% A

Group KEE
Machinery Furniture
Leasehold and and office Motor
improvements  equipment equipment vehicles Total
HER
HENEEE HERRE BLERE RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
T FET FEL FAEL FAT
At 1 July 2009 RZZETNE
+A—H
Cost %S 14,780 1,706 17,886 3,701 38,073
Accumulated depreciation 2T E (14,206) (1,594) (14,522) (2,812) (33,134)
Net book amount REFE 574 112 3,364 889 4,939
Year ended 30 June 2010  HE-T—TF
NAZTRLEE
Opening net book amount ~ FHEEFE 574 112 3,364 889 4,939
Additions RE 392 = 23 310 725
Disposal HE - - (5) - (5)
Reclassify ELimR] 706 - (706) - -
Depreciation e (878) (26) (635) (256) (1,795)
Exchange realignment ERICE 46 - 65 7 118
Net book amount REEE 840 86 2,106 950 3,982
At 30 June 2010 and RZE—F4F
1 July 2010 NAZTER
“T-2F+A—H
Cost XA 15,651 1,706 15,572 4,293 37,222
Accumulated depreciation ~ ZFTITE (14,811) (1,620) (13,466) (3,343) (33,240
Net book amount REFE 840 86 2,106 950 3,082
Year ended 30 June 2011  EHE-Z——F
AR=ZTHIEFE
Opening net book amount ~ FHEEFE 840 86 2,106 950 3,982
Additions RE - - 189 - 189
Disposal & - - (126) (18) (144)
Depreciation e (415) (28) (283) (650) (1,376)
Exchange realignment R 90 7 376 59 532
Net book amount EHFE 515 65 2,262 341 3,183
At 30 June 2011 RZE——4F
NAZ=ZTH
Cost A 16,927 1,718 15,504 4,213 38,362
Accumulated depreciation 2 TE (16,412) (1,659) (13,242) (3,872) (35,179)
Net book amount EEFE 515 65 2,262 341 3,183

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

BE-FT-— XA tALEE

15. L &&=

83

Group rEE
Patents and Deferred
technical development
know-how costs Total
EFER IEIE
A A B B AR 7R et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAET FHET T T
At 1 July 2009 RZEZNFLH—H
Cost X s 5,989 7,510 13,499
Accumulated amortisation RETH#E (5,068) (7,499) (12,567)
Net book amount RHEFE 921 11 932
Year ended 30 June 2010 Hez—_ZT—ZTF
NAZTHLEFE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 921 11 932
Additions NE 345 - 345
Translation adjustment PE 5 P 33 - 33
Amortisation 5 (991) 2) (993)
Net book amount RMEFE 308 9 317
At 30 June 2010 RZE—ZTFA=Z+HEHK
and 1 July 2010 —E-FTF+H—H
Cost X A 6,541 7,510 14,051
Accumulated amortisation ZEHEESH (6,233) (7,501) (13,734)
Net book amount BREFE 308 9 317
Year ended 30 June 2011 BHE_T—F
NAZTHIEFE
Opening net book amount FYEREFE 308 9 317
Translation adjustment M 5 JE & 24 9) 15
Amortisation #iE (37) - (37)
Net book amount BREFE 295 - 295
At 30 June 2011 RZE——FNA=+H
Cost BN 6,856 7,510 14,366
Accumulated amortisation RET#H (6,561) (7,510) (14,071)
Net book amount R FE 295 - 295
AR A 0 e F A R 8

—T——FFR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

BE-T-——F#~A=tALEE

16. i B} Jag 2~ ] B9 4 i

Company
PN

2011 2010

—E——F —E—FF

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FExT FA&TT

Unlisted investments, at cost ELFTRSE KK 39,952 39,952
Less: Provision for impairment BB R (26,952) (10,261)
13,000 29,691

Due from subsidiaries JE UL BT B8 A R IR 34,920 14,979
Due to subsidiaries AR NG EOE (4,111) (10,191)

As at 30 June 2011, the balances with subsidiaries are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
Accordingly, the amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are

classified as current assets/liabilities.

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2011
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 30 June 2011 are

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

BE-FT-— XA tALEE

16. > Mt 8 2N 7 B9 RE 4% ()

R-E——F~xA=1H TESHBEL

as follows: AIMFFEET
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of
establishment issued capital/ Percentage of equity Principal
Name and operations registered capital attributable to the Group  activities
SMAL R R BRTRE/ KEEES
A8 B AR AFE BZASH TEXE
Direct Indirect
E# 8 &
Vitop Bioenergy Limited British Virgin Islands 1 share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
(“BVI)
XEENMIRABAT RBRUES 1R E (E1 5 T R RERR
(RBRLES])
Vitop Bioengery (China) Ltd* PRC Registered capital of - 100%  Manufacturing and
(“Vitop China”) HK$95,000,000 trading of BlOenergy®
products, and trading
of multi-functional
water generators,
healthcare food
products and other
healthcare products
REEY (RE)BERAA" FE FE R AR EERHERFROZTI
(TREHRE]) 95,000,000/ 7T Em HEZPRERK
® RERRLEME
REm
Vitop Healthcare Product Hong Kong 2 shares of HK$1 each - 100%  Trading of BlOenergy®
Limited product
AERRERBRAF BB REREE HERFROREM
hym=oliier)
AEXRFEERREBHR PRC Registered capital of - 80%  Manufacturing and
BREEDR" RMB5,840,000 trading of multi-
functional water
generators
HE AR AR EERHEEZDEE
5,840,0007C LYY

*

Registered as wholly-foreign owned enterprise (“WOFE”) under
the PRC law.

*k

Registered as Sino-foreign joint venture under the PRC law.

* REGFBELZZEMAIEBEBELE
(MMEBERER]) -

*

* BETREEIAMATIIEGERE-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The financial statements of the above subsidiaries are audited
by PAN-CHINA (H.K.) CPA LIMITED for statutory purpose or
Group consolidation purpose.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which
have, in the opinion of the Company’s directors, principally
affected the results of the year or formed a substantial portion
of the assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Company’s
directors, results in particulars of excessive length.

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

HEZZ

16.

—FRA=ZTHLHFE

P i Jag 2 W) B B A )

b B B R RO B RS SRR T R (B
B)GHMEBAARIRR/EERN
&$’§lﬁ? BHEZ -

EREINARBOHB AR A
ERA Jtt—rWJ%/ATIEE‘@ZKiF
MR E @ZZHEXZFEEQF&%FE@E;Z
*W} ARREBFERR Wi E IS
7#253&#4@&;@({!%155 B

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT  17. 18 & & &\ - {E %) BE I 51|
FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR At A1) 5 s 18 1Y B 5 & E
LOSS

Group
AEE
HK$’000
FETT
Structured notes with embedded NETETENEBERE  BHAFE
derivatives, at fair value
Balance at 1 July 2009 RZEZNFEHA—HWNER 591
Fair value gain NFEEKZE 1,245
Balance at 30 June 2010 RZE—ZFTFEXA=+HK
and 1 July 2010 “E-EFLA—HWNES 1,836
Fair value gain N EKE 645
Maturity E3|p=i (2,481)
Balance at 30 June 2011 R-ZE——FXA=+THOEH% -

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT

18.

FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS (continued)

87

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

BE-FT-— XA tALEE

17. 46 %€ 5 $% ~~F{E 51 iR X 5
A i M) 5 18 1 B S

(#&)

Group

rEHE
2011 2010
—E——fF —E—FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH& T TATT

Represent: HERN:

— current — e - 1,836
- non-current —3ER BN 1% - -
- 1,836

The structured notes with embedded derivatives as at 30
June 2010 were classified as financial assets designated at
fair value through profit or loss. Fair value of the structured
notes with embedded derivatives as at 30 June 2010 has
been determined by reference to the quotation provided by the

RZEBE-ZBEA=+H RETEL
BENEBEZERIEEEAREZATE
FIBE R I A s M BB HEE -1
—E-EFEXNA=1TH RWNENTEIA
MEBEZENRTFEN2ERITRME

bank. BIRMEMEE o
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 18. A] i & # & JE H
Group Company
rEE PN
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E-——-f ZZT-TF =ZE-——-F ZT-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FBT
Equity securities: AR B S
- Unlisted securities —ELTES 25,033 25,033 21,700 21,700
Less: Accumulated impairment B RETE R
loss recognised B RSB (5,934) (3,000) (4,850) (3,000)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 8 B 161 - - -
19,260 22,033 16,850 18,700

Available-for-sale financial assets of unlisted securities at
the end of the reporting period represent investments in
companies which were established in PRC. They are measured
at cost less impairment at the end of each reporting period
because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so
significant that the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that their fair values cannot be measured reliably.

RBERR FLEMRBHATHERBEERR
EHRBERZHAFNRE MAREEE G
NP EBEEN ARAESRAEAR ST
BHEDTE  BURR S WS BR A0S RUR(E

o

RAEA Y A R 2w
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 55 ik 4 Bt GE
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE_ZT——FXA=THILHFE
19. INVENTORIES 19. # 8
Group
rE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T T
Raw materials [E K 5,660 5,406
Work in progress 2 5,739 6,312
Finished goods 27K 14,709 14,730
26,108 26,448
Less: Provision for obsolete and W RERFHE
slow-moving finished goods P o B (4,807) (4,807)
Foreign exchange translation losses i 5 &8 (231) -
21,070 21,641
20. TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. & 5 ME IR IR
Group
&
2011 2010
—E——F —T-FF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHERT T T
Trade receivables 5 EBERN 10,415 9,228
Less: Provision for impairment BB (9,132) (8,146)
1,283 1,082

Before accepting any new customers, the Group will assess
the potential customer’s credit quality. 46% (2010: 29%) of the
trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have
the best credit quality.

The credit terms that the Group offers to customers are
generally not more than 90 days.

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2011

RERTMHES 28 NEBE G
BEEPHNEREER 46% (T —F
F:29% ) MR EH R EIRE M E 5 B UK
EREABREEEER-

AEE-RASFFRERHTEEIENE



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An aged analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

BE-FT-— XA tALEE

20. & 5 FEWCHR 3K ()

B RBERORE ST :

Group

AEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TAIT
0 - 30 days 0&30H 370 125
31 - 60 days 31E60H 215 193
61 to 180 days 61£2180H 382 453
Over 180 days #180H 316 311
1,283 1,082

Included in the balances are trade receivables with
an aggregate carrying amount of HK$698,000 (2010:
HK$764,000) which are past due at the reporting date for
which the Group has not provided impairment loss as there
has been no significant change in credit quality and the
amounts are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does
not hold any collateral over these balances. No interest is

charged on the trade receivables.

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not

AP EFARBS BB M AS
BEARELREBRRGENRERE

698,000/ 7T (=& —

T4 1 764,000

T0) B 5 R R - N B R RE
BEREENREAZEFEELAZTBEAE
8 BABSBIDEE AR 28D - A

KSEYERZTE

BREF A R 3 o

B 5 RKERERIL T8 -

B 2 8318 3 SR (B 1) & 5 18 W R R O BR

impaired: BRI
Group
A
2011 2010
—E-—-F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T8 T T
61 to 180 days 612180H 382 453
Over 180 days #180H 316 311
698 764
KAE A ¥ 1B A B 24 )

—T——FFR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

E-T-—SRASTALEE

20. & 5 EWCHR 3K ()

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts IR IR 15 A o )
Group
RE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE T T 7T
Balance at beginning of the year FHE 8,146 7,874
Foreign exchange translation losses M 5 &8 392 272
Impairment losses recognised on ERREWKIERERE
receivables 594 -
9,132 8,146
21. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 21. Bl JARAT 85 17
Group Company
KEE ¥ NN
2011 2010 2011 2010
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$ OOO
FET FB T FET FBTT
Cash at banks and in hand RITHE R
FHEES® 10,950 5,271 26 26
Time deposits THER - 3,411 - -
Total cash and bank balances Be MRTT
‘B 10,950 8,682 26 26
Less: Pledged bank deposit B BRITER
for a bank loan facility EEM
[
BITHER = (20) - -
10,950 8,662 26 26

As at the end of the reporting period,

the cash and

bank balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi
(“RMB”) amounted to approximately HK$7,355,000 (2010:
HK$7,612,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies. However, under the PRC Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through

banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2011 HE_ZT—FNAZ=ZTHLFE
+
22. TRADE PAYABLES 22. & 7 FEAT BR K
The credit terms of trade payables varies according to the Z 5 FE 1 BR A (= B HAE JE 811 A 4 fE
terms agreed with different suppliers. The ageing analysis of BAHENHRERZ - AEENE S EN
the Group’s trade payables as at the balance sheet date is as RRREEAMERERITAT
follows:
Group
AEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T
Outstanding balances with ages: RIEREB DR REEBREE:
Within 30 days R30H A 437 480
Between 31 to 60 days 31260H 437 7,168
Between 61 to 180 days 612180H 525 3,919
Over 180 days #1180H 2,414 1,248
3,813 12,815

23. OBLIGATION UNDER FINANCE LEASE 23. [l & & 7K 18

As at 30 June 2011, the Group had obligation under finance %;fﬁf—if_\ﬂ =TH - AEEME
lease repayable as follow: EERmERERENT

Present value

Minimum of minimum
lease payments lease payments
BERESHE EERENRENRE
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E-——-Ff C"ZT-ZF —E——-F _T-IZF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TET FET THBT
Amounts payable: A FUE
Within one year —FRX 52 80 51 71
In the second to fifth years FE-ERF - 52 - 51
52 132 51 122
Less: Future finance charge B:BEREER (1) (10) - =
Present value of lease obligation ~ T & &ERIH & 51 122 51 122
The average lease term is about three year. No arrangements F 15 iﬂ BEFHY Z’]fﬁ —F-HENKEH
have been entered into for contingent rental payments. SN RETZEM L e
RAEAEMEERA R A5
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL W55 R 3% B G
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE_ZT——FXA=THILHFE

24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS 24. 5 E AT E K

Original
currency 2011 2010
F% —®--% -T-TF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET T T
Bank loans, secured RITER BEA HK$E 7T - 2,146

Analysed into: DA
Carrying amount repayable ER—FRNEENEREA
within one year = 397
Carrying amount bank loans  # A BEZKEEEXH
that contain a repayment RITEFRREE:
on demand clause:
— Repayable within one —BRMEHERE
year from the end of —FREE
reporting period - 409

— Not repayable within —HERRERLE
one year from the end B—FAREE"
of reporting period but BEtARBAE

AT (MiiEa)

shown udner current

liabilities (Note a) - 1,340
- 2,146
Less: Amounts due within BRTARBEEETH
one year shown under —FARNEHEE

current liabilities - (2,146)

Amounts shown under in FFAFERBAEBETHNERE
non-current liabilities - -

Note a: The amount due are based on scheduled repayment date set Wita: HHSBUBERBHAEATBETER
out in the loan agreement. HEjBEE

At 30 June 2011, the Group did not have any bank
loans (2010: HK$2,146,000) and bank loan facility (2010:
HK$5,000,000). All the assets secured for the bank loan
facility were released.

For the year ended 30 June 2010, all bank loans of the Group
are floating interest rate bank loans. The interest rates of the
Group’s bank loans was HIBOR+2% provided that if during
any interest period HIBOR is lower than 1% p.a., then the rate
of interest to be charged during such interest period shall be
equivalent to 3% per annum.

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE-_ZT—FA=THLHEE

25. Al L B SR

On 29 September 2010, the Company issued 30 million, 3% RZE—ZFNAZ+NIHE  NARET
HK Dollor denominated convertible notes with the aggregate 3,000 AB TTEHERIS% AR FEIE - A

25. CONVERTIBLE NOTES

principal amount of HK$30 million. Each note entitles the
holder to convert to ordinary shares at a conversion price of
HK$0.25.

THRFR3,0008 BT BN REE T
BAENZ L ME0.B THIA R LB

Bt o

Conversion may occur at any time between 29 September —Hﬁ‘ﬁﬁmﬁ@TE’\ —ZFNAZTAh
2010 and 30 March 2012. If the notes have not been RE-F——F= ﬂ + B HA R {AT B
converted, they will be redeemed on 30 March 2012 at HK$30 BB AR ﬂﬁ EEBRERB BR_ZF
million. Interest of 3% will be paid on the maturity date. —Z—fF= A=+ Hi%3,0008 B ITHER
WHEE - 3%M M BN EIEAE 2T e

The convertible notes contain two components: liability and —H’%H FEPREMEH - AERERS
equity elements. The equity element is presented in equity Do BB 2T ST R [ AT RARE
heading “convertible notes reserve”. The effective interest T)‘éﬁ%fﬁj BEERMNHOERFNER 5
rate of the liability component on initial recognition is 13% per RELBETF13% °

annum.

HK$’000
T
Proceeds of issue BTG IE 30,000
Equity component EmEHm (3,958)
Liability component at date of issue REBETHENAERHS 26,042

Interest charge calculated at BEBRF EA13%TE M F B H
an effective interest rate of 13% 1,697
Liability component at 30 June 2011 RZE——FNA=THHEEHH 27,739

The fair value of the convertible notes’ liability component at ARBREEEEHHNR T ——F <A
30 June 2011 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation “T+HENRAFETIURBLABEIREE
carried out by RHL Appraisal Ltd., an independent qualified Eﬁﬁﬂ?ﬂﬂ?ﬂﬂéﬁﬁ MAERRAETH
professional valuer. HEEEEFE-

RAEA Y A R 2w
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE_ZT——FXA=THILHFE
26. DEFERRED TAXATION 26. % JEFi TH
The following are the major deferred tax balances recognised NAFERBAFEERNEEZELEH
and movements thereon during the current and prior years: HEBRLESBOT
Deferred tax liabilities A=}
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T T
At 1 July ntHA—H - -
Recognised directly in equity in respect of Bt 7] #: i% Z 48 & #&
convertible notes RIERER (654) -
At 30 June RANA=+H (654) -
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax RBEMAR NEEEBERDAMNG
losses of HK$62,693,000 (2010: HK$55,324,000) available E51862,693,0008 L (ZE —F F:
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies 55,324,000/ 7T ) - Al A{ER B E £ ZE
which incurred the losses. Deferred tax assets have not EER R R R AR R FER PR F o AR
been recognised in respect of these losses due to the o R EOETER - Bt WERZ S EE
unpredictability of future profit streams. ERIELETIBE E -
27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. A
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHET T T
Authorised: ERE
20,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 20,000,000,000/%
HK$0.025 each SRR E{E0.025% T
B AR 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITEEBRE:
882,785,961 (2010: 882,785,961) 882,785,961%
ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each T T
882,785,9614% )
TR EE0.0257% T
EORER L 22,070 22,070

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

27.

28.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

A summary of movements in the authorised and issued share
capital of the Company is as follows:

)

HE

217.

B 3 P w
TE-—FRA=THLFE

R A ()

RKRBEERBBITRAZFHHEN
T

Number of Nominal
authorised Number of value of
shares shares issued shares issued
EE 2817 2T
K5 & A KRG EAR R4 EE
HK$’000
TET
At 30 June 2010, R-ZZE—-ZFXA=+H"
1 July 2010 and —EZ-ZF5tA-HBK
30 June 2011 —ZE——HXA=+H 20,000,000,000 882,785,961 22,070
SHARE OPTION SCHEME 28. i B T 3

In connection with the listing of the Company’s shares on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, the Company conditionally
adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) pursuant
to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the
Company on 23 January 2003. The Scheme became effective
on 10 February 2003 upon the listing of the Company’s
shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange by way of
introduction and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the
Scheme remains in force for ten years from that date.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards
to participants for their contribution to the Group or any
entity in which the Group has an equity interest (the “Invested
Entity”) and/or to enable the Group or an Invested Entity to
recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group or an Invested Entity.

The participants of the Scheme include: (a) any employee
(whether full time or part time employee, including any
executive director but not any non-executive director) of
the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;
(b) any non-executive director (including any independent
nonexecutive director) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries
or any Invested Entity; (c) any supplier of goods or services
to any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (d)
any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity; () any
person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity;
and (f) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity.

BARFARDRBRAER L AAH
BB AR ARER - BB=F—
A-+ZRBBHEBRAAR AEE
S — EBAEH B ([58)) 3 BB
B2 AR 9 AN 4B 75 U E RS 2R P E AR
ERER_EE=F B ARER:
AEHE) (BB EHREETIN) B A
HTER—BEAK

AEIEERHASEESAAKETB KA
RamTMER ([REEE]) BMEM
M2 EERNEBNEE R HER
SERKREERARHNBERRERSE
ZRE UEBRIIBEEAT MAREHE

HWEEE-

rEIM2RE B (ARR] AT MK
BRI AREERBNIARE (T
EREIFRBMES BREMNTES
TERBEMENTES) : OAREHE
LM E A R SR E BB R (I 3F
WTES (BREMBELIENTES)
CAREEMKERFREMNREER
MEAE M RIS B R - ()N R B =k
THREEBNEMNES: (RAKH
SEMREEREHRTR FEIEM
Rt cEOEMALRER  ROANKE
EAKE AR SR EEEEMAK
R AEKEEMKE QAR EMKE
ERMBEITEMNESNERAITAEAC
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A 5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE_ZT——F X XA=THILHFE

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 28. ME R HERT ] ()

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by independent
non-executive directors of the Company. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time and with an aggregate
value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares
at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, in any
twelve-month period up to the date of grant, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The total number of shares of the Company in respect of
which options may be granted under the Scheme must not
exceed 88,278,596 shares, being 10% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue on the date when the 10%
Scheme limit has been refreshed. The 10% Scheme limit was
refreshed at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 30 October 2009.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted
to each participant (including exercised and outstanding
options) in any twelve-month period up to the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of grant (the “Individual
Limit”). Any further grant of options in excess of the Individual
Limit must be subject to shareholders’ approval in general
meeting with such participant and his or her associates
abstaining from voting.

An option may be exercised at any time during a period as
the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) may
determine which shall not be more than ten years from the
date of grant of the option.

Save as determined by the Board, there is no minimum period
for which an option must be held before it can be exercised.

The acceptance of an offer of the grant of an option must be
made within 28 days from the date upon which such offer is
made with a non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 from the
grantee to the Company by way of consideration for the grant
thereof.

The subscription price of a share of the Company in respect
of any option shall be such price as the Board in its absolute
discretion shall determine, save that such price will not be
lower than the highest of: (a) the closing price of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant of the option, which must be a trading day; (b)
the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (c)
the nominal value of the share.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Subject to earlier termination of the Company by resolution in
general meeting, the Scheme shall be valid and effective till 9
February 2013. After the expiry of such valid period, no further
options will be offered but in all other respects the provisions
of the Scheme shall remain in full force and effect.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted was
estimated as at the date of grant, using the Binominal option
price model, taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the share options were granted. The expected
volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility
is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessary
be the actual outcome. No other feature of the share options
granted was incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

The Company did not have any outstanding share options at 1

July 2010 and 30 June 2011. No share options were granted
during the year ended 30 June 2011.

Particulars of the share options lapsed under the Scheme
during the year ended 30 June 2010 were as follows:

Number of share options

)

HE

28.

5 Hie 22 Bt ok

—E——FRA=THILFE

I R ST 31 )

BEE_T-=F_ANBERIL &8
—HAR EARRAERRAS® LIE
2RBREFRILFE -G EINA RS
B & - T & 1R 24X A B Al BB AR
R BN GF N AR EAS —
BEABTRM

RRELREMER-

AARERERLENEREIEET B
B PAR R S Y BB A i A S E TR
B A BRE - EARE R ERILE
th &t o T8 HA R 0 = BR R SRR i A] FE R
BEBENERE BETRBRERER
EFERQATFER TEFREREBR
RERY L b 3 o

RZFE—ZFTEFLH-BHRERZZE—FRX
A=+H RARWEEMERITERE
- REBEE-_T——FA=THIE
FENLEE T ERE-

REE-_T-—ZTFA=ZTHLEFE"
REBFTEE R BRAEFIBWT :

RREHE
Granted Reclassification Lapsed Exercised
Name or category At during during during during At Date of Exercise Exercise
of participant 1 July 2009 the year the year the year the year 30 June 2010 grant* period price**
RIBBNE RZE-8%
SEER 2GR tA-8  FRERH FRENIE  FREAN  FRERFR ARSTR RAAE e ke
HKS
AT
Directors:
g%
Han Xiao Yue 5,584,000 - - (5,584,000) - - 10Aug 2007 10 Aug 2007 to 0.260
9 Aug 2009
BER = S A
NATH NR+RE
ZETNE
NALE
K AR H: P 4 JBe A PR 2

T ——FFR

9



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

HE

—E——FRA=THILFE

28. ME R RERT ] ()

Number of share options
BRELE
Granted Reclassification Lapsed Exercised
Name or category At during during during during At Date of Exercise Exercise
of participant 1 July 2009 the year the year the year the year 30 June 2010 grant* period price**
R-2BAE R-8-%8F
SEERAGRH tA-B  ERERH FRENSR  FABAR  ERERE ARZTR RARET  f7EH i@
HKS
BT
Chen Heng Long 5,584,000 - - (5,584,000) - - 10Aug 2007 10 Aug 2007 to 0.260
9 Aug 2009
LG e
NAtH NAtRZ
“EENE
NARE
1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - - 28Feb2008  28Feb 2008 to 0217
27 Feb 2010
ZTT)\E  ZEZE)\%
ZAZTAR  ZAZTH
ETE-3%
ZRZttH
Zhang He 5,584,000 - - (5,584,000) - - 10Aug 2007 10 Aug 2007 to 0.260
9 Aug 2009
ol Z23+E ZTEtE
NATH NATH
EIETNE
NANA

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2011



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 H=E

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

—E——FRA=THILFE

28. MERRERT ] ()

929

Number of share options
BRELE
Granted Reclassification Lapsed Exercised
Name or category At during during during during At Date of Exercise Exercise
of participant 1 July 2009 the year the year the year the year 30 June 2010 grant* period price**
RZ2BAE R-%-%%
SEERAGRA tA-B  ERERH FRENSR  FABAX  EREFE ARZTR RARE  f7EH i@
HKS
BT
1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - - 28Feh2008  28Feb2008to 0217
27 Feb 2010
“2E)\F ZZE)\%
ZR=thB ZA=tAR
EI5-%F
R
Chan Yuk Tong 4,250,000 - - (4,250,000) - - 5Dec 2006 5 Dec 2006 to 0.100
4 Dec 2011
REZ “EERE CEEINE
+ZARR  T+ZAAEA
EIE——F
+-AMA
23,002,000 - - (23,002,000 - -
Other employee:
EfhEE:
In aggregate 37,343,000 - - (37,343,000) - - 10Aug 2007 10 Aug 2007 to 0.260
9 Aug 2009
st ke S
NRTH NATH
EIRRNE
NANA
In aggregate 18,500,000 - - (18,500,000) - - 28Feb2008 28 Feh 2008 to 0217
27 Feb 2010
st Z2ENE ZEE)E
ZRZthB ZA=tAA
EI5-%F
“ASEs
KAE A ¥ 1B A B 24 )

—T——FFR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL W 85 e 3 B
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE_ZT——F X XA=THILHFE
28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 28. M I HE FH 3 (o)
Number of share options
BREYE
Granted Reclassification Lapsed Exercised
Name or category At during during during during At Date of Exercise Exercise
of participant 1 July 2009 the year the year the year the year 30 June 2010 grant* period price**
R-BE0E R-%-3%
SHEREYER th-B  ERERE ERENSE  EREXN EREAFE AASTA BEAH s g
HKS
BT
In aggregate 4,000,000 - - (4,000,000) - - 3 Apr 2008 3 Apr 2008 to 0.255
2 Apr 2010
) “EEN\E ZEE)\E
MA=H MA=H
EI5-%F
MAZA
59,843,000 - - (69,843,000) - -
Suppliers:
fitEm:
In aggregate 6,000,000 - - (6,000,000) - - 280ct2004 28 Qct 2004 to 0.355
27 Qct 2009
) “EEME -EERE
tAZt\B TAZtNR
EIEINE
+A-ttE
6,000,000 - - (6,000,000) - -
88,845,000 - - (88,845,000 - -
i The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the * ERENEBERAR LD AR ERTT
grant until the commencement of the exercise period. fE HART 15 -
**  The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment o RSB ITAI RS AR R A IR E
in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in ELUZSHNERT  BRENTTEE
the Company’s share capital. KB

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

28.

29.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

$4 5 e & Pt ik

HE—

28.

—FRA=ZTHELFE

i I w3 )

Share options and weighted average exercise price are as P AR T 2 Sy B AR v R n e E 91T
follows for the reporting periods presented: EEMT:
2011 2010
—E-——F —E-FF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
Number price Number price
hEFH T
2B TEE 2B 1I6E(8
Outstanding at 1 July REA—BRRTE - - 88,845,000 0.246
Lapsed B - - (88,845,000) 0.246
Outstanding at 30 June RANAZ+BEEKTE - - N =
RESERVES 29. it i
Group A< 45 4]

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 38 of the
financial statements.

The share premium account of the Group mainly includes: (i)
shares issued at a premium; and (ii) the difference between
the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the reorganisation scheme (the “Group
Reorganisation”) in preparation for the public listing of the
Company’s shares on the GEM of the Stock Exchange over
the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued
in exchange therefore.

The convertible notes reserve represents the value of the
unexercised equity component of convertible notes issued by
the Company recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for convertible notes in note 3.14.

AEERNAFELBEFENFBRE
LERESHH NP BRI EIBANGE
REEEHRA-

AREERDEERIESRRE  (AREE
TR RRESBHEARBRNDE
B ATRIRIR AR EmeEHES ([5§
BEA]) AT BN B A R R R AN E (B 2
RER MM BETHAR A RAMENZE
B

A R R A T AR IR M SE8. 1450 AT #2
BREBRANOSTRRMER BAR
BESSEIREALES LR SeREE: $:3:157)
MEE-

RAEHA Yy e A PR 2w
T ——FFR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL W55 R 3% B G
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE_ZT——FXA=THILHFE

29. RESERVES (continued) 29. 1%% (&)

The option reserve represents the fair value of the actual
or estimated number of unexercised share options granted
to employees and consultants of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for equity-
settled share-based payments in note 3.11(ii).

The Group’s capital reserve represented the amount of
retained earnings of Vitop China applied for the increase in its
registered and paid-up capital.

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable to
WOFE, Vitop China, being the wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, is required to transfer 10% of their profit after tax, if
any, to the statutory reserve until the balance of the fund reach
50% of their respective registered capital. Subject to certain
restrictions as set out in the relevant PRC regulations, the
statutory reserve may be used to offset against their respective

B SR 8 4 T AR R B REB. 11 ()RR A B £
A 18 B B ER A B0 2 5T UK BT RE
RETAKEEER RERNBERED
ERSEARITERENATE-

AEBHERFEEREBFENREF
AMEREBEANKEFRERTENE
o

HREBERNIIEBELENTER
fl - ARAEEMBRARARFHPERE
BEHRBEET (105)H10%ZEEE [
B EEESEREERFSANEM
BARHI50% © 1R 1% A B o B AR DI T8t Ay
AETRS - OEERBAIBEEERSES
BMREEIE-

accumulated losses.

Company ¥ NN
Capital  Convertible
Share  redemption note Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
Bx AR
R E RE®E ZERE 2EE#R #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET AT AT THT
At 1 July 2009 RZEENE
+HA—H 75,211 29 - (36,454) 38,786
Loss for the year rEEER - - - (6,445) (6,445)
At 30 June 2010 RZE-ZF
and 1 July 2010 NAZTHER
—EB-2F
+HA—H 75,211 29 - (42,899 32,341
Loss for the year rEEER - - - (24,391) (24,391)
Issue of convertible notes BOUBRREE - - 3,958 - 3,958
Deferred tax liabilities on issue 1T R EEH
of convertible notes EEHEEE - - (654) - (654)
At 30 June 2011 RZZE——%
~NA=TH 75,211 29 3,304 (67,290 11,254

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

29.

30.

RESERVES (continued)

The share premium account of the Company mainly includes:
(i) shares issued at a premium; and (ii) the difference between
the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued
in exchange for the issued share capital of the subsidiaries
and the value of the underlying net assets of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the Group Reorganisation. Under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

COMMITMENTS

(A) Operating lease commitment

The Group leases certain of its offices, factory and
machinery and equipment under non-cancellable
operating lease arrangements with lease terms ranging
from one to five years. As at 30 June 2011, the total
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

HE

29.

30.

—E——FRA=THILFE

fiti 5 s

ARRBEMHEEREIEZRE: (VAEE
BITHRD  RVRIEEEEHE  BIF
RBMEARDBTRAMBITHAR
AR AT {E R ENE AR HEEE
FENZRE -REFERERANEF22
BE(—hAR—FE=K BRiEE RE
) REEEREFKRERENEH
% ARRIBERNERERBELB
R R HEES A I s B R A 2K
FARBMBR-

A
(A) £ ERE

AEBRETATHHESHE LS
HMEREETRFE TR LK
LEw HEFHNF—ZERF-
RZZE——FRA=1TH TAH
HEEMONENARKEEZE

operating leases are payable as follows: LRI
Group
rE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T TBTT
Within one year —F R 1,965 1,299
In the second to fifth years E_ZERF 1,588 1,909
3,553 3,208

The Company did not have any significant operating
lease arrangements as at the end of the reporting period
(2010: Nil).

RRBREHE HIR L B ERE
EHEZH (T —TF 8)-

KA A PR 2w
—T——FFR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

31.

32.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Neither the Group nor the Company had any significant
contingent liabilities at the end of the reporting period.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, reserves and retained profits.

Gearing ratio

The directors review the capital structure regularly. As part
of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. During
the year ended 30 June 2011, the Group’s strategy, which
was unchanged from previous years, was to reduce the
gearing ratio. The ratio is calculated based on total debt and
shareholders equity.

The gearing ratio at the year end was as follows:

)

HE

31.

32.

5 Hie 22 Bt ok

—E——FRA=THILFE

o IR AR

P3R5 B 7 8 8 o AN A 73 4 AT )
BARRA LM

A e B PR

AEEEREANBRER/BREHRD
W REMEST A AR S MR
REBEREBUREE ARKAR

AEBNEARBREBRE RALA
BARGED EREREBTRA [
Bl R o

EARARILER

EEEHENEARB - FRAENN
— W EEEEEEARANEZE
EXBBAORR RBEE-FT——FX
A=1THLFE ARENKRE (BT
FEVEZL) REREEAARALE &
REELETIAERERE MR RERF

st
= o
o

REBHNERBELRDOT:

2011 2010
—ZET——F —E-FF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHET T 7T

Total debt B4R 27,790 2,146
Shareholders’ equity % B0 7 29,743 47,334
Gearing ratio ERBBLLE 93.43% 4.53%

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL b 55 ik 2 Bt GE
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2011 HE_ZT—F~NAZ=ZTHLFE
33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. WAL G
Save as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, BRI R A E ) T B & AN - N
the Group had the following material transactions with certain EEETHEATHTTINERRS:

related parties:

(a) (a)

2011 2010
—E——fF —ZE-FTF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FExT TATT

Rental expenses to HFUTAL

MR

— a minority equity holder ofa  — AR &M B QA RIHY

subsidiary of the Company LEERBEA () 529 579

Notes: B 3 -

()  The Group’s transaction with a non-controlling interest () ANEEHEAD R B A R FEIE RS
of a subsidiary of the Company was made in accordance TR R 5 TR R & 75 1 E R IR FGE
with the mutually agreed terms. 1T

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the (b)) AEEFEEEABNHH
Group:
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TAIT
Total remuneration of Directors FRNESKEM
and other members of key FTEEEAES
management during the year FoEsa v Fat
— Short term employee benefits —EHEERH 2,538 2,864
— Pension scheme contribution — iR BB 35 36
2,573 2,900
A2 W A 2

T ——FFR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

BE-T-——F#~A=tALEE

34. 4l T H

(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) 4 ft T EF R
Group
&
2011 2010
—E——F —ZE—ZF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T
Financial assets HMKEE
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 19,260 22,033
Financial assets designated at fair 5 A& A FEY R R A A
value through profit or loss HEHNNEENTBEE - 1,836
Trade receivables B 5 R RR 1,283 1,082
Deposits and other receivables 5l & K H b fE R 3K 25,871 20,574
Pledged bank deposit BHEMRITER - 20
Cash and bank balances Be RIRTTET 10,950 8,662
57,364 54,207
Financial liabilities MBaE
Trade payables g 5 EMERR 3,813 12,815
Accrued liabilities and e B ERE A
other payables FERBRR 14,161 11,828
Deposits received BUWET& 9,404 9,368
Obligation under finance lease MEMEZEME 51 122
Convertible notes Al I 2 27,739 -
Interest-bearing bank loans SHEIRTTER - 2,146
55,168 36,279

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are market risk (including interest rate risk,
foreign exchange risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The management reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are

summarised below.

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2011

(b)

<5 A B A B H AR X BUR

AEETRTANTIERARATS

R (BN X R

HNE R B K

HiERER) FEERBRERS
ERR - -EEERMALIHEEE
BEZFRAROBR - ZFBERM
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE-_ZT—FA=THLHEE
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) ST H o)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) < Al F 5 P H RE K BUR
(continued) (&)
Market risk 1 5 Il B

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial
risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates,
interest rates and equity prices.

Market risk exposures are measured by sensitivity
analysis. There has been no change to the Group’s
exposure to market risks or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risk.

Interest rate risk management

Except as disclosed below, the Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent of
changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s cash flow interest-rate risk mainly arises
from bank balances. The Group regularly seeks out
the most favourable interest rates available for its bank
balances. Bank balances issued at variable rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Information
relating to the interest rates and terms of the Group’s
bank balances are disclosed in Notes 21. As at 30 June
2011, if the market interest rates had been 50 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year would have been HK$54,000
(2010: HK$32,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of
higher/lower interest income on bank balances and cash
net off with higher/lower interest expense on floating rate
borrowings.

The Group’s financial liabilities are issued at fixed interest
rate which merely comprise convertible notes and
finance lease. Accordingly, management considers the
Group has no significant fair value interest rate risk from
financial liabilities.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risks.

AEENES T EMEERINEERK
MERREEREHMELNS R
[V o

M5 EBIAGEE D ITETE - $’§
.ﬁﬁ7¥<Xmmiﬁﬂ|§»«_x$%.
NEtERBe T AW EELE o

FY % I b P

BT XA BEEN NREERKRA
DR ER e RER AN MDHBILR
MIZFEEH o

leﬁﬂl\]fﬁiuwif”?ﬂ EE%
HBTTHEFEE - AEETH AR
RITHEGTESRFTEENFE - ZR
Hﬂfﬁﬁmﬁﬂ EESASEA
AZBEeRENREAR AEASE
ENRITETONERERNE
HERKE21BE- R ——&F
ANAZT A MR RE IR
Qmmﬁ% i BT L i 5 B e 4

+ Bl AN 4R [ B R 12 0 ) 5 Ok >
/%MMpw%ﬁ(:%—gir
32,000 70)  FZRRRITET
RIRE/F B U AN, R BF
B) I R A5 FR 00 F) 8.5 S35 00,k
HEEFTEL

AEENMHABEREAIAKRS
EhBMEHEE REENRET
At EEERSAKE A BYH
BEMNAFENEERIEFEK-

7N 5 [ 30 4 5T 37 f A 2R 4 B R e

HA R AR -

RAEA Y A R 2w
—T——FFR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Foreign exchange risk management

Several subsidiaries of the Group have foreign currency
sales and purchases, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. The Group’s sales and purchases are
denominated primarily in Renminbi, which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. The Group does not have
any formal hedging policy.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at
the reporting date are as follows:

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

—E——FRA=THILFE

34. 4R T H ca)

(b) 4 JE B P H AR K UK

(&)
I I o, Bt 5 PR

REEETHEB L RAAIMNEETT
MEE SAEBAZINERR-
AEBENEETIEUARKE"
ML AREBAZINERR - NEE
I EAEA EX SRR -

AEEREHE B BMUIINETENE
KEERERBENKREAEBENAT:

2011 2010
2% —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FATT
Assets EiE
RMB AR 59,039 46,618
Liabilities =N
RMB AR 39,046 39,570

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5E

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE-_ZT—FA=THLHEE

34. 4R T H ca)

(b) 4 JE B P H AR K BUR

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Foreign exchange risk management (continued)
Sensitivity analysis on foreign currency risk management

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% increase and decrease in the Hong Kong dollars
against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items, and adjusts their translation at the
period end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.
The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well
as loans to foreign operations within the Group where
the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than
the currency of the lender or the borrower. A negative
number below indicates a decrease in profit where the
Hong Kong dollars strengthen 5% against the relevant
currency. For a 5% weakening of the Hong Kong dollars
against the relevant currency, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the profit and the balances
below would be positive.

(&)
G I Jo Bt 5 PE (48 )
Sh B [ B2 FE B 8RR Z 5T

TRV BEHE T ARREINE
FHEREZES %M B E © 1A AR &R
T REEABREING R PTER
RAOBRELES5% EAEE
Bt e B LR EXRES -
BRE DT B AR TR B INERE
BEREE HRENPRNEE
FEE R FIFH5%H A - BURE D
IR BRI E R R AR B AEIN
EBENER  mABERAN
eI R E AT B IAIN B G
B TXHHEBBRETLERM
B THE5% 5 it M) Bk D 2R © i
BT AR SRR ES% M e
HRERT A ERES @ 5
BB /LR

2011 2010
—E——F —ZE-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TAIT
Impact of RMB AREHZE
Profit and loss* i F K g 1a 1,000 352

# This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on
receivables and payables denominated in RMB.

#  IEXREBUAARESHENHARK
HRBK (8 22 1O FE YRR TR K% e A AR 3K
P EE A B[ B o

KA A PR 2w
—T——FFR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL W55 R 3% B G
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BE_ZT——FXA=1THILHFE

34. &/ T A (&)

(b) % Rl JE By B B H AR K BUOR

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Other price risks

The Group is exposed to price risks through its holding
of non-current investments.

Other price sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to price risks at the reporting
date. If the market price of the non-current investments
has been 10% higher/lower while all other variables
were held constant, the profit for the year ended 30
June, 2011 would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$1,926,000 (2010: HK$2,205,000) for the Group.
This is mainly due to changes in fair value of non-current
investments.

Credit risk

As at 30 June 2011, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group has put in place policies to ensure that sales
of products are made to customers with an appropriate
credit history and the Group performs period credit
evaluations of its customers. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt and debt investments at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2011
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H Al 157 16 I Bt

AEBAFHIFRBDREMAXE
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E A (B 18509 8RR

AT ERE DT IR IR 4 B 5
FTAS N ERRRMETE - HIER
BRENTELFA TE10%M T
EHMEHEHFTE AHE-T
——EXA=ZtHELEELXAER
B9 355 ) 5 38 hn R 4 491,926,000
B (ZFE—FF:2,205,000%8
TT) W DEBHRIERSDREN
N EEBTE -
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R-E——FRA=1TH £X&%£H
AXSHFREBTEEMEEE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL A %5 e 7% Bt 5

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE-_ZT—FA=THLFE

34. 4 fh T H ca)

(b) 4 Al JE By B H R R BUR

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Credit risk (continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds
which are deposited with several banks with high credit
ratings, the Group does not have any other significant
concentration of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet
its current obligations when they fall due.

The Group measures and monitors its liquidity through
the maintenance of prudent ratio regarding to the liquidity
structure of the overall assets, liabilities loans and
commitments as the Group. The Group also monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group’s operation and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows. In addition, standby credit facilities are
established to provide contingent liquidity support.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows.

(#&)
1 BB (45)

BN R S F EEBEREE TR
BRETREEEFRORT  BOR
BESHMEERRER-

RERDESHFRNESEEEF
AOBRRTMAZEESED AR
S REE Y EEMEMEREE
SRR -

7 B & & B

RBETERIEANRERERNR
BRMERNRER -

AEEEBEFEAEEERE
E RE BERRAENRDES
REHBANERLE AERER
HERBHESHRR - ARETEER
mRe IReFEMRRE R
EBRBITRMKF B NAEE
MEERRERERERBDNZ
B AEBETRIBREER
BARKESRBESIE-

TRFAVAREE TR ER
BRFHA W RTIREAEER
AREREEVHRENZTE A
MHAaENARTRRASRERR
HREFENERASHERRE

KA e A PR 2w
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

#

34. 4R T H ca)

(b) 4 JE B P H AR K UK

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

The Group

Within
1 year

—&£R

HK$°000

TR

—E——FRA=THILFE

undiscounted

Carrying

value

REE

HK$°000

TET

At 30 June 2011

Non-interest bearing
Variable interest raise
instruments

RZE——%F
NA=TH
q: §+ /%\

ARFERETR

27,378

30,051

27,378

27,790

57,429

55,168

Within
1 year

—&R

HK$'000

TAT

Carrying
value

fREE
HK$'000
TAT

At 30 June 2010

Non-interest bearing
Variable interest raise
instruments

R-_ZB—ZF
NA=TH
it 8

ARFEEETA

24,643

468

24,643

2,094

25,111

26,737
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

(i)

the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded on active liquid markets are determined with
reference to quoted market prices; and

the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis using prices or rates
from observable current market transactions as
input.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair

values.

35. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and
disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

Fair value measurements based on quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities;

Fair value measurements based on inputs other
than quoted prices included within Level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices); and

Fair value measurements based on valuation
techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability are not based on observable markets
date (unobservable inputs)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2011

35. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (continued)

$4 5 e 2 Pt ik

BE-T-——F#~A=tALEE

35. N PAESE 8 o)

Financial assets measured at fair value: NAFEFENTKEE:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
%45 E_ER E=EH =
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FHETT FATT FAT FAET
As at 30 June 2011 RZZE——FXA
=+B
Financial assets B EE
Deivative financial assets TEMBEE - - - -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—ER BFZER B=EH At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
As at 30 June 2010 NZE—ZTFA
=+H
Financial assets HBEE
Deivative financial assets TEMBEE - 1,835 - 1,835
- 1,835 - 1,835

During the year ended 30 June 2011, there were no transfers
of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2.

36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING

PERIOD

On 18 July 2011, the Company has completed a rights issue.
294,261,987 rights shares on the basis of one rights share
for every three Shares held were issued pursuant to the rights

issue.

Details of the above are set out in the Company’s circular and
announcement dated 24 June 2011 and 15 July 2011.

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2011
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R-ZE——FtA+N\B AREZEK
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%:‘
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL W 85 e 3 B
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2011 HE_ZT—FNAZ=ZTHLFE
36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING 36. #d IR S H ()
PERIOD (continued)
On 2 August 2011, the Company entered into an agreement RZE——FNAZH ARG
for the acquisition of 90% shareholding in a company called U k% — 8 & A Express Time Enterprises
Express Time Enterprises Limited at the consideration of Limited®) R Bl B90% x # - KB B
HK$108,500,000. 108,500,000/ Tt °
Details of the above are set out in the Company’s LM EENSFEBEINAATBHAE-E
announcement dated 5 August 2011. ——FNRAEEHAM-
37. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 37. W
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified in order to ETHRBFEENRDE UFEARE
conform with the current year’s accounts presentation. EMEBEEH TN
REEW AR AR

—T——FFR
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL 0t % & B RE
INFORMATION
For the year ended 30 June 2011 BHE-_Z—FA=THLHFE

Year ended 30 June
BEAAZ+THLEE
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
—®--F —Z-TF —TTAF —TTN\F —BBtF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT FAT FAT FA T

Revenue & 27,217 67,540 88,062 111,137 104,247
Loss before Income tax B AT{SHi A &5 18 (23,502) (18,898) (6,132) (9,356) (12,047)
Income tax expenses Frisfim = - (166) (172) 679) (174)
Loss for the year AEEEHAE (23,502) (19,064) (6,304) (10,035) (12,221)
Attributable to: TH AL
Owners of ZiN/NEIEZ ¥ =N
the Company (23,315) (19,104) (6,440) (10,225) (12,681)
Non-controlling FEFE AR B
interests (187) 40 136 190 460
23,502 (19,064) (6,304) (10,035) (12,221)
At 30 June
RAA=+H
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

—®——F -T-TF _TEAE -FTE\F _TTLE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000
TR T THR  TER TR

Assets and liabilities EERAR
Total assets BEEBE 87,653 85,888 92,834 84,102 75,357
Total liabilities EREECE (55,822) (36,279) (25,623) (26,292) (31,413)
Non-controlling interests ~ JEIZ A% # 25 (2,088) (2,275) (2,235) (2,099) (1,909)
Equity attributable KRNRER A

to Owners of JEAE HE

the Company 29,743 47,334 64,976 55,711 42,035

VITOP BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2011
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